
 
 

 

Queries about the agenda?  Need a different format? 
 

Contact Sue Lewis – Tel: 01303 853265 
Email: committee@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk or download from our 

website 
www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 

 

Date of Publication:  Monday, 20 July 2020 

 

Agenda 
 

Meeting: Planning and Licensing Committee 

Date: 28 July 2020 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Place: Zoom Virtual Meeting 

  

To: All members of the Planning and Licensing Committee 
 
 

 The committee will consider the matters, listed below, at the date and time 
shown above. The meeting will be open to the press and public and 
streamed live at bit.ly/YouTubeMeetings 
 
If members have any particular questions on the report it would help 
the management of the meeting if they could send them on or before 
next Tuesday to committee@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk. Members can 
raise matters in the meeting of course but knowledge of the areas of 
any concern prior to its commencement will aid the running of the 
meeting. 
 

 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest (Pages 3 - 4) 
 

 Members of the committee should declare any interests which fall under 
the following categories: 
 
a) disclosable pecuniary interests (DPI); 
b) other significant interests (OSI); 
c) voluntary announcements of other interests. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 To consider and approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting 
held on 30 June 2020.  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/
https://bit.ly/YouTubeMeetings


Planning and Licensing Committee - 28 July 2020 

 
4.   Minutes of the Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 9 - 10) 

 
 To consider and approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting 

held on 23 June 2020.  
 

5.   20/0137/FH - Inge Cottage, 52 Coolinge Lane, Folkestone, CT20 3QF 
(Pages 11 - 28) 
 

 Barn hip extension increasing height of existing roof to provide living 
accommodation at first floor level along with the replacement of existing 
rear extension. 

 
6.   Flat 4, 10 Trinity Crescent, Folkestone, Kent, CT20 2ET (Pages 29 - 40) 

 
 Variation of condition 2 of application 83/1121/SH to allow permanent 

occupation of a ground floor flat for the manager following the 
amalgamation of two existing ground floor studio flats (resubmission of 
Y18/1418/FH). 

 
7.   Former Folkestone Youth Centre, Shepway Close, Folkestone, 

Shepway Close Folkestone Kent (Pages 41 - 76) 
 

 Erection of 17 Two Storey Dwellings and 2 Three Storey Apartment Blocks 
Comprising 30 Apartments with Associated Access, Parking, Private 
Amenity Space and Public Open Space. 

 
 
 
 

Page 2



Declarations of Interest 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
 
Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 
disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 
that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The  
Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 
matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 
vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 
do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 
DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 
dispensations, withdraw from the meeting. 
 
Other Significant Interest (OSI) 
 
Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 
nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 
commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 
must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 
granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 
permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 
same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 
taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 
procedure rules. 
 
Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI) 
 
Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 
transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 
under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 
the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration. 
 
Note to the Code: 
Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 
bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 
involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 
affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 
financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 
Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 
relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 
some cases a DPI. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

The webcast for this meeting is available at  
https://folkestone-hythe.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 

 
 

Minutes 
 

 

Planning and Licensing Committee 
 
Held at: Zoom Virtual Meeting 
  
Date Tuesday, 30 June 2020 
  
Present Councillors John Collier, Gary Fuller, Clive Goddard 

(Chairman), Mrs Jennifer Hollingsbee, Nicola Keen (In 
place of Connor McConville), Jim Martin, Philip Martin 
(Vice-Chair), Jackie Meade, Ian Meyers, 
Georgina Treloar and David Wimble 

  
Apologies for Absence Councillor Connor McConville 
  
Officers Present:  Robert Allan (Principal Planning Officer), David Campbell 

(Development Management Team Leader), Claire Dethier 
(Strategic Development Manager), Ewan Green (Director 
of Place), Sue Lewis (Committee Services Officer), 
Llywelyn Lloyd (Chief Planning Officer), Ross McCardle 
(Principle Planning Officer) and Jemma West (Committee 
Service Specialist) 

  
Others Present:  

 
 
 

8. Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillor Clive Goddard declared a voluntary announcement in respect of 
application Y19/0958/FH – Land adjoining The Retreat, Lydd Road. As his 
interest arose by being the ward member he remained in the meeting during 
discussion and voting on this item. 
 
Councillor David Wimble declared a voluntary announcement in respect of 
application Y19/0958/FH – Land adjoining The Retreat, Lydd Road. As his 
interest arose by being a ward member and being involved in the original 
consultation he remained in the meeting during discussion and voting on this 
item. 
 

9. Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 May 2020 were submitted and signed 
electronically by the Chairman. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 5

Agenda Item 3

https://folkestone-hythe.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Planning and Licensing Committee - 30 June 2020 
 
 

 
 

2 
 

 
10. Y19/0958/FH - Land adjoining The Retreat, Lydd Road, Old Romney, Kent, 

TN29 9SG 
 
DCL/20/05 - Construction of access road and the provision of 5 static 
mobile homes and a community hall to provide accommodation as a 
traveller’s site. 
 
Mark Brazil, local resident, provided written representation in support of the 

application. 

 
Proposed by Councillor David Wimble 
Seconded by Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee and 
 
Resolved: 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set out at 
the end of the report and that delegated authority be given to the Chief 
Planning Officer to agree and finalise the wording of the conditions and 
add any other conditions that he considers necessary. 
 
(Voting: For 11; Against 0; Abstentions 0) 
 
 

11. Y18/0768/FH - Land adjoining 39 Victoria Road West, Littlestone, Kent 
 
DCL/20/06 - Outline application for up to 80 dwellings and access with matters 
of scale, layout, appearance and landscaping reserved for future consideration. 
 
Sian Hunter, local resident, provided written representation against the 
application. 
New Romney Town Council provided written representation against the 
application. 
Ward Councillor Patricia Rolfe spoke against the application. 
Steve Davies, applicant’s agent, provided written representation in support of 
the application. 
 
The planning officer updated members on a couple of minor corrections within 
the report and informed that a further letter of representation had been received.  
 
The planning officer informed members that condition 13 would be removed as 
this will form part of the s106 agreement, which would be a much more robust 
way of securing the requirements.  The planning officer also informed members 
that the formation of a Controlled Parking Zone would be included in the s106, 
along with any reasonable requests from the NHS (pending receipt of their 
comments). 
 
It was agreed officers would continue to monitor ownership of the adjoining land 
to the application site with regard to a potential secondary access to the site 
being created if those parcels are developed. 

Page 2Page 6



Planning and Licensing Committee - 30 June 2020 
 
 

 
 

3 
 

 
Proposed by Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee 
Seconded by Councillor Philip Martin. 
 
Resolved: 
That planning permission be granted subject to: receipt of final comments 
from the NHS; completion of a s106 agreement to secure affordable 
housing, highway works, NHS contributions (if required), a contribution to 
the upgrade of the existing seafront play area, and management and 
maintenance of the ecological mitigation land; and the conditions set out 
at the end of the report; and that delegated authority be given to the Chief 
Planning Officer to agree and finalise the wording of the conditions and 
add any other conditions that he considers necessary. 
 
(Voting: For 5; Against 2; Abstentions 4) 
 

Page 3Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 
 

1 
 

 
 

Minutes 
 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
 
Held at: Virtual Zoom Meeting 
  
Date Tuesday, 23 June 2020 
  
Present Councillors John Collier, Mrs Jennifer Hollingsbee and 

Jim Martin 
  
Apologies for Absence  
  
Officers Present:  Kate Clark (Case Officer - Committee Services), Tim 

Hixon (Legal Specialist), Sue Lewis (Committee Services 
Officer), Jack Pearce (Legal Trainee) and Briony 
Williamson (Licensing Specialist) 

  
Others Present: The applicant and his representative. 

 
 
 

31. Election of Chairman for the meeting 
 
Councillor Mrs Jenny Hollingsbee was elected Chairman for the meeting. 
 

32. Declarations of interest 
 
Tim Hixon, Legal Specialist gave a voluntary announcement in respect that he 
is known to the owner of Premier Taxis. He remained in the meeting during the 
discussions. 
 

33. Exclusion of the public 
 
Proposed by Councillor John Collier 
Seconded by Councillor Jim Martin and 
 
Resolved: To exclude the public for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it is likely to disclose exempt information, as defined in 
paragraphs 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
– 
 
 “Information relating to any individual”. 
 
(Voting: For 3; Against 0; Abstentions 0) 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Licensing Sub-Committee - 23 June 2020 
 
 

 
 

2 
 

34. Review of whether a licence should be granted to a new Private Hire driver 
 
Proposed by Councillor John Collier 
Seconded by Councillor Jim Martin and 
 
Resolved: To refuse the application for a new Private Hire driver licence 
on the grounds that the sub-committee did not feel confident enough 
based on the information they had in front of them to determine that the 
applicant was a fit and proper person to be granted a Private Hire driver 
licence. 
 
(Voting: For 3; Against 0; Abstentions 0) 
 

Page 2Page 10



   DCL/20/08
  

Application No: 20/0137/FH 

 

Location of Site: 

 

 

Inge Cottage, 52 Coolinge Lane, Folkestone, CT20 3QF 

Development: 

 

Barn hip extension increasing height of existing roof to provide 

living accommodation at first floor level along with the 

replacement of existing rear extension. 

 

Applicant: 

 

Mr Hall 

 

Agent: 

 

Mr Giles Fitch 

Blueprint Projects 

Unit 12 Riverside 

Industrial Estate 

West Hythe Road 

Hythe 

CT21 4NB 

 

Officer Contact:   

  

Isabelle Hills  

 

SUMMARY 

This report considers whether planning permission should be granted for the erection 

of a barn-hip roof extension increasing the height of the existing ridge and eaves to 

provide living accommodation at first floor level along with the replacement of the 

existing rear extension with a larger rear extension.  

The report recommends that planning permission be refused as it is considered that 

the proposed barn-hipped roof extension would significantly alter the existing 

character and appearance of the dwelling. The change in roof form and additional 

bulk introduced would result in an overly prominent appearance which would harm 

the appearance of the property and the immediate surrounding streetscene.  

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That planning permission be refused for the reasons set out at the end of the 
report.  

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1. The application is reported to Committee by Cllr Collier.   

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



   DCL/20/08
  

2.1 This application relates to a detached bungalow situated on the eastern side of 
Coolinge Lane, within the settlement of Folkestone. The bungalow is of hipped 
roof form with a hipped front projection; of white painted render finish with brick 
base, with a brown concrete tiled roof. The dwelling has a single storey flat roofed 
rear extension. The front curtilage of the property comprises a lawned garden 
with a driveway running down the southern side of the bungalow, leading to a 
detached garage at the rear of the site (Figures 1-2).  

 

 
     Figure 1: Front elevation 
 
 

Page 12



   DCL/20/08
  

 
Figure 2: Rear elevation 

 
 
 
2.2 The properties to either side of the site are also detached bungalows (Figure 3). 

No.52A to the north is of gable-end form. Planning permission was granted at 
this property for a roof extension including front and rear dormers to facilitate first 
floor accommodation; this permission has not been enacted. No. 50 to the south 
is of a similar design to the application property, with a hipped roof form, but is of 
brick faced finish rather than render. No. 48 is a two-storey dwelling, brick faced 
with a hipped roof.  

 

Page 13



   DCL/20/08
  

 
Figure 3: Surrounding Streetscene 

 
 
2.3 In the wider street scene, there are a range of dwelling designs and types, 

including two-storey designs, roof forms are a mix of hipped and gabled, with a 
flatted development further to the south is of flat roof form. 

 

2.4 A site location plan is attached to this report as Appendix 1.  
 

3. PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 Householder planning permission is sought for the erection of a barn-hip roof 

extension increasing the existing ridge and eaves height of the roof to provide 
additional living accommodation at first floor level. The ground to the front of the 
property slopes to the south. At present the eaves of the dwelling range from 
approximately 2.6 metres to 3 metres in height with a ridge height of 6.7 metres. 
The proposed eaves height would range from between approximately 3.8 to 4.2 
metres with a proposed ridge height of 8.4 metres. Two rooflights are proposed 
to be installed to the north facing roof slope and one rooflight to the south facing 
roof slope. The roof plan does not accord with the elevations and floorplans and 
show 4 rooflights on the north facing roofslope. 
 

3.2 The proposal also seeks to replace the existing flat roofed single storey extension 
with a new larger pitched roof rear extension. This is proposed to have an 
approximate width of 6.42 metres and approximate height of 3.6 metres (Figures 
4-5).  

 

Page 14



   DCL/20/08
  

 
 

 
 

Figure 4: Proposed Elevations  
 
 

 

Figure 5: Existing and Proposed Streetscene Elevations 
 

Page 15



   DCL/20/08
  

3.3 Internally, the existing layout provides three bedrooms located on the ground 
floor. The proposal seeks to relocate three bedrooms to first floor level with two 
bathrooms. Relocating the bedrooms upstairs combined with the proposed rear 
extension would allow for a guest bedroom at ground floor level with en-suite, a 
utility and WC, an open-plan kitchen / living / dining area and separate lounge 
(Figure 6). 

 

 
 

Figure 6: Proposed Floor Plans 
 

3.4 Externally, the front elevation is proposed to be a mixture of brickwork with 
vertical timber weatherboarding to the first floor. The side elevations are 
proposed to be rendered to match the existing. Render is proposed to be located 
to the rear with some timber cladding installed. The roof is proposed to be 
finished in slate roof tiles and dark grey aluminium windows are proposed to be 
installed throughout the property. The proposed rear extension also features a 
large door to the rear elevation.  
 

3.5 This application is a re-submission of Y19/0431/FH which proposed a hip to 
gable extension along with the increase in height of the existing roof to provide 
first floor living accommodation, replacement of the existing rear extension and 
material changes to the exterior of the property. This application was refused for 
the following reason –  

 

The proposed gable-end roof extension would significantly alter and diminish the 
existing character and appearance of the dwelling, a key part of which is the 
existing hipped roof form. The change in roof form and additional bulk introduced 
would result in an overly prominent appearance which would harm the 
appearance of the property and the street scene. The proposed development is 
therefore contrary to policies BE1 and BE8 of the Shepway District Local Plan 

Page 16



   DCL/20/08
  

Review, and draft policies HB1 and HB8 of the emerging Places and Policies 
Local Plan Submission Draft.  
 

3.6 The key differences between the previous application and this re-submission, is 
the introduction of a barn-hipped roof as opposed to a gable end and revisions 
to the fenestration located to the front elevation.  

 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

4.1 The relevant planning history for the site is as follows: 

 

Y19/0431/FH Hip to gable extension increasing 

height of existing roof to provide living 

accommodation at first floor level along 

with the replacement of the existing 

rear extension and rendering of the 

property and replacement of existing 

roof tiles. 

 Refused 

 

5. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

5.1 The consultation responses are summarised below. 

 

Consultees 

Folkestone Town Council – no response received. Expiry 17.03.2020 

 

Local Residents Comments 

5.2 One neighbour comment has been received and is set out below –  

- The height of the proposed extension is excessive particularly in comparison 

to the dwellings either side 

- The extension will overshadow neighbouring bungalow cutting out light 

- The extension will create an invasion of privacy and enjoyment of garden to 

neighbouring property 

- The extension will be visually overbearing and will be an overdevelopment of 

the existing property  

 

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY  
 

6.1 The Development Plan comprises the saved polices of the Shepway District 
Local Plan Review (2006) and the Shepway Core Strategy Local Plan (2013) 

 

Page 17



   DCL/20/08
  

6.2 The new Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft (February 2018) has 
been the subject to public examination, and as such its policies should now be 
afforded significant weight, according to the criteria in NPPF paragraph 48. 
 

6.3 The Folkestone & Hythe District Council Core Strategy Review Submission Draft 
(2019) was published under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public consultation between 
January and March 2019, as such its policies should be afforded weight where 
there are not significant unresolved objections. 

 
6.4 The relevant development plan policies are as follows:- 

 

Shepway District Local Plan Review (2013) 
SD1  – Sustainable Development 
BE1 - Standards expected for new development in terms of layout, design, 

materials etc. 
BE8 – Standards expected for alterations and extensions to existing buildings in 

terms of scale, proportions, materials, roof line, detailing, impact on 
amenity and impact on character of the streetscene.  

TR12 – Vehicle parking standards.  
 
Shepway Local Plan Core Strategy (2013) 
DSD  – Delivering Sustainable Development 

 

Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft (2019) 
HB1  – Quality Places through Design 
HB8 – Standards expected for alterations and extensions to existing dwellings 

 

Core Strategy Review Submission draft (2019) 
 

6.5 The following are also material considerations to the determination of this 
application. 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

 

6.6 Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance with 

the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. A 

significant material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF). The NPPF says that less weight should be given to the policies above if 

they are in conflict with the NPPF. The following sections of the NPPF are 

relevant to this application:- 

 

Paragraphs 124, 127  

 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Page 18



   DCL/20/08
  

Design: process and tools 

National Design Guide October 2019 

C1 – Understand and relate well to the site, its local and wider context 

I2 – Well-designed, high quality and attractive  

Paragraph 53 ‘Well designed places are visually attractive and aim to 

delight their occupants and passers-by’. 

 

7. APPRAISAL 

 

7.1 In light of the above the main issues for consideration are: 
 

a) Design and impact on streetscene  
 

b) Residential amenity 
 

c) Parking and highways  
 

a) Design / visual impact on streetscene 
 

7.2 Saved policy BE1 expects development to accord with existing development in 
the locality, were the site and surrounding development are physically and 
visually interrelated in respect of building form mass, height and elevational 
detail. Saved policy BE8 requires alterations and extensions to existing buildings 
to reflect the scale, proportions, materials, roof line, and detailing of the original 
building and should not have a detrimental impact upon the streetscene.   
 

7.3 The existing bungalow is considered to have a low-key appearance in the 
streetscene, due to its scale and form, and its location set back from the highway. 
The existing hipped roof form of the dwelling is a key element of its character. 
The dwelling is of a very similar design and form to the dwelling immediately to 
the south, albeit this dwelling is of brick faced finish. The two dwellings appear 
as a pair of hipped roof properties in the streetscene, and this consistency of 
design adds to the qualities of the streetscene.  

 
7.4 The proposed development would raise the dwelling up to 1.5 stories in height, 

providing a full two stories of accommodation with a strong barn-hipped 
character.  The proposed increase in height is greater than that proposed under 
the previous application which was refused due to the additional bulk and 
character of the roof design. It is appreciated that the proposal had been re-
designed with a barn-hipped roof to try to reduce some of the mass and bulk of 
the roof form. However it is not considered that this change in roof form has 
sufficiently addressed the previous reason for refusal, and as such has resulted 
in an increase in height, which in conjunction with the additional bulk which the 

Page 19



   DCL/20/08
  

barn hip would form, would still result in a significantly bulkier more prominent 
dwelling than the existing.  

 

7.5 Whilst it is appreciated that there are examples of varying roof forms along 
Coolinge Lane, the existing dwelling is of hipped roof form and this forms a key 
part of its character and provides consistency of design with the dwelling 
immediately along to the south.  

 

7.6 The proposed roof extension is considered would diminish and significantly alter 
this character of the streetscene. Furthermore, it is proposed that a contemporary 
finish would be employed, with rendered walls, grey framed windows and a slate 
roof. This would contrast with the prevailing character of materials in the 
streetscene; where brown tiled roofs and white framed window result in a more 
traditional appearance than that which is proposed. However the proposed 
choice of materials are not considered to be visually detrimental enough as to 
warrant refusal on this ground.  

 

7.7 The proposed rear extension would replace the existing rear projection, albeit 
slightly larger in footprint and with a pitched roof. This would be situated flush 
with the existing side elevation and is considered would appear to serve as a 
subservient addition to the property. No objection was raised to the design or 
visual appearance of the single storey rear extension under the previous 
application and it is considered that this remains to be acceptable with regard to 
its visual appearance. Due to the proposed extension being located to the rear 
of the property it is also not considered that this would be readily visible from 
within the streetscene and as such would have acceptable impact upon the 
character and appearance of Coolinge Lane.  

 

7.8 Therefore, it is considered that the resultant appearance, due to the introduction 
of a barn-hipped roof form proposed and the additional bulk, would significantly 
alter the existing character and appearance of the dwelling, and would appear 
overly prominent, to the detriment of the streetscene. It is therefore considered 
that the proposed development fails to address the objectives of Local Plan 
Review policies BE1, BE8 and emerging policies HB1 and HB8.   

 
 

(b) Residential amenity 
 

7.9 Saved policy BE8 and emerging Places and Policies Local Plan policy HB8 
require alterations and extensions to existing dwellings to not adversely affect 
the amenity enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring properties.  
 

7.10 The application proposes an increase in scale and bulk and therefore has 
potential to cause an overbearing impact and additional overshadowing. The 
introduction of first floor windows also has the potential to cause additional 
overlooking of neighbouring properties.  

Page 20



   DCL/20/08
  

 

7.11 At present the eaves of the dwelling range from 2.6 metres to 3 metres in height 
with a ridge height of 6.7 metres. The proposed enlarged dwelling would have 
an eaves height range of 3.8 to 4.2 metres with a ridge height of 8.4 metres. The 
proposed single storey rear extension would have a ridge height of 3.7 metres. 
Due to the increase in ridge and eaves height, and the introduction of a barn-
hipped roof form to the front and rear, the occupants of no. 52A to the north of 
the site would view additional bulk alongside their boundary.  

 

7.12 No. 52A has a side window facing southwards, this is however positioned in front 
of the application dwelling and would therefore not be subject to significant harm. 
The additional bulk would be visible alongside the rear garden of no. 52A, from 
the garden and the rear fenestration of the dwelling, and would result in some 
additional enclosure of the garden area and some additional overshadowing. The 
enlarged dwelling would however be set back from the boundary between the 
two properties by 1 metre, and the bulk of the roof would slope away from the 
boundary. Overall it is considered that the additional bulk which would result 
would not cause harm of a magnitude which would warrant the refusal of planning 
permission.  

 

7.13 To the southern side boundary of the site, the additional bulk proposed is of 
lesser concern as it would be positioned alongside the bungalow to the south 
rather than impacting upon the rear garden of this property. The bungalow to the 
south does have one side facing window, the outlook from this window however 
would remain similar to the existing situation and significant additional 
overshadowing would not result due to the orientation of the two properties. A 
daylight/ sunlight study was undertaken by the applicant which demonstrates that 
the impact of the development upon neighbouring properties would meet the 
British Standards.  The report has been written by a competent professional and 
as such, there the proposal is considered acceptable in this respect.  

 
7.14 It is considered that the neighbouring dwellings to the north which front onto Croft 

Lane are far enough away from the site to not be harmed by the additional bulk 
which is proposed. 

 

7.15 Regarding overlooking, the north facing side rooflights proposed serve 
bathrooms and could therefore be conditioned as obscure glazed and non-
opening or be relocated higher up within the roof slope, were the scheme to have 
been considered acceptable in all other regards. The south facing roof light would 
serve the stairway and would face towards the roof of the bungalow to the south. 
The proposed first floor front windows would face out over the road and would 
not cause harm to neighbouring privacy. The proposed rear-facing first floor 
windows would cause some additional overlooking of neighbouring gardens, 
neighbouring dwellings to the rear however are set well away from the application 
site, and oblique views which would be available to the dwellings to either side 
of the site would not have a significant impact upon neighbouring privacy. 

 

Page 21



   DCL/20/08
  

7.16 Overall, whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed development would have 
some impact upon neighbouring amenity, and the additional bulk would have 
some enclosing impact on the neighbouring garden to the north, overall it is 
considered that significant harm would not be caused and the level of harm is 
acceptable.  

 

(c) Parking and Highways 
 

7.17 Saved policy TR12 states that maximum parking standards must be complied 
with. Appendix 6 states that a dwelling with 4 or more bedrooms requires 3 
parking spaces per dwelling.  
 

7.18 As was concluded under the previous application, which also proposed an 
increase from 3 to 4 bedrooms within the property, there is considered to be 
sufficient off-street parking to the driveway (23 metres in length) to the side of 
the dwelling and garage which is proposed to remain unaltered. As such it is 
considered that the existing site would have sufficient off-street parking to 
accommodate the proposed development in line with the requirements of policy 
TR12.  

 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
 

7.19 In accordance with the EIA Regulations 2017, this development has been 
considered in light of Schedules 1& 2 of the Regulations and it is not considered 
to fall within either category and as such does not require screening for likely 
significant environmental effects. 

 
Local Finance Considerations  

 
7.20 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) provides 

that a local planning authority must have regard to a local finance consideration 
as far as it is material. Section 70(4) of the Act defines a local finance 
consideration as a grant or other financial assistance that has been, that will, or 
that could be provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown (such as 
New Homes Bonus payments), or sums that a relevant authority has received, 
or will or could receive, in payment of the Community Infrastructure Levy. There 
is no CIL requirement for this development. 

 
Human Rights 

 
7.21 In reaching a decision on a planning application the European Convention on 

Human Rights must be considered. The Convention Rights that are relevant are 
Article 8 and Article 1 of the first protocol. The proposed course of action is in 
accordance with domestic law. As the rights in these two articles are qualified, 
the Council needs to balance the rights of the individual against the interests of 
society and must be satisfied that any interference with an individual’s rights is 
no more than necessary. Having regard to the previous paragraphs of this report, 

Page 22



   DCL/20/08
  

it is not considered that there is any infringement of the relevant Convention 
rights. 
 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
 

7.22 In determining this application, regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality 
Duty (PSED) as set down in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, in particular 
with regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. It is considered that the 
application proposals would not undermine objectives of the Duty. 

 
  It is considered that the application proposals would not conflict with objectives 

of the Duty. 
 
 
 Working with the Applicant 
 
7.23 In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the NPPF, Folkestone and Hythe District 

Council (F&HDC) takes a positive and creative approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions. F&HDC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and creative manner.  However this application is not considered to 
have overcome the previous reasons for refusal and as such this application is 
recommended to be refused on the same grounds.  

 

8. CONCLUSION 

8.1  The proposed increase in ridge and eaves height of the existing dwelling along 
with the introduction of a barn hip roof form would result in additional bulk to the 
existing dwelling which is considered would significantly alter the existing 
character and appearance of the dwelling, and would appear overly prominent, 
to the detriment of the streetscene. This re-submission has removed the gable 
end previously proposed, however the introduction of a barn hip roof form is not 
considered to have sufficiently addressed the previous reason for refusal. The 
proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to saved policies BE1 and BE8 
and emerging policies HB1 and HB8.  

 
8.2 It is therefore recommended that planning permission should be refused. 

 
 

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Page 23



   DCL/20/08
  

9.1 The consultation responses set out at Section 5.0 are background documents for 
the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
10.  RECOMMENDATION 

 
 That planning permission be refused for the following reason(s): 

  
1. The proposed barn hip roof extension, by virtue of its increased height and bulk, 

would result in harm to the character and appearance of the dwelling. In addition, 
the resulting design would be at odds with the two single-storey dwellings that 
abut the property, negatively impacting upon the character of the street scene. 
The proposed development is therefore contrary to saved policies BE1 and BE8 
of the Shepway District Local Plan Review, and draft policies HB1 and HB8 of the 
emerging Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



   DCL/20/08
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1– Site Location Plan 
 
 

Page 25



   DCL/20/08
  

 

Page 26



15

13

11
9 1

5

5a

FF

PADDOCK MEWS8

1

Sun Croft

HO
OK

COOLINGE
CLOSE

El Sub Sta

54.4m

29

53.6m

44

52

House

52.2m

32

54.6m

1

36

22

1

2

Wi
lde

rn
es

s

Alton

SANDWICH

2

LB

9

9 1

13

17

15

1

Ruin

ED & Ward Bdy

1

2

The Old9

2

72

LANE

10

165

6

1

1

San
s S

ou
ci

139

12 Coolinge

151

Shelter

Kora
lyn

SHORNCLIFFE ROAD

(PH)

133

16 24

3 8
13

5

LB

CR

Sandgate

2
1

162

46

154
156

53.3m

20

Farmhouse

Coolinge House

6

40

64

Spencer House

17

177

11

8

21

5 10

3 8

5 10

ED
 & 

Ward
 Bd

y

ED & Ward Bdy

1

Riding School

4

11

54

50.0m

CLOSE

147

Winston House

AU
DL

EY
 RO

AD

33

23

28

CROFT LANE

PA
DD

OCK

24

Nail Box

Churchill H
ouse

620700.00

620700.00

620800.00

620800.00

620900.00

620900.00

13
61

00
.00

13
61

00
.00

13
62

00
.00

13
62

00
.00

13
63

00
.00

13
63

00
.00

´

0 20 40 60 8010
Meters

Contains Ordnance Survey data 
© Crown copyright and database right 2020
Folkestone & Hythe District Council 100019677 
 

20/0137/FH
Inge Cottage

52 Coolinge Lane
Folkestone

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



    

  DCL/20/09 
Application No: Y19/0967/FH 

 

Location of Site: 

 

 

Flat 4, 10 Trinity Crescent, Folkestone, Kent, CT20 2ET 

 

Development: 

 

Variation of condition 2 of application 83/1121/SH to allow 

permanent occupation of a ground floor flat for the manager 

following the amalgamation of two existing ground floor studio 

flats (resubmission of Y18/1418/FH). 

 

Applicant: 

 

Mr. Seyed Tarjormani 

Agent: 

 

Mr. Roger Joyce 

Officer Contact:   

  

Robert Allan 

 

SUMMARY 

The proposal seeks to vary a planning condition to allow unrestricted occupation of a flat 

following the amalgamation of two flats that are currently restricted to use as holiday lets. 

Whilst some supporting evidence has been supplied, this is somewhat lacking in detail and 

fails to meet the standard required to meet the exemption criteria as set out within emerging 

policy E4 of the Places and Policies Local Plan, or saved policy TM2 of the Shepway District 

Local Plan Review.  As such, the loss of visitor accommodation has not been justified and 

would impact upon the local economy, contrary to emerging and saved policies which seek 

to protect tourism-related accommodation.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

That planning permission be refused for the reason set out at the end of the report. 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1. The application is reported to Committee at the request of Councillor David Monk. 

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 

2.1. The application site is located within the defined settlement boundary of Folkestone 
and also within the Folkestone Leas & Bayle Conservation Area. The application 
property, 10 Trinity Crescent, is located at the junction of Trinity Crescent and 
Sandgate Road and is an imposing 5 storey building of Victorian era, which has been 
sub-divided into flats.  

 
2.2. A site location plan is attached to this report as Appendix 1. 
 

3. PROPOSAL 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



    

  DCL/20/09 
3.1 This application seeks a variation of condition 2 of application 83/1121/SH to allow for 

the permanent occupation of a ground floor flat following the amalgamation of two 
existing ground floor studio flats to form the aforementioned flat. This proposal is 
identical to the previously refused scheme Y18/1418/FH. As before, the proposal does 
not include any external works to the building. Internally, a single new door opening 
would be created to link the two existing studio flats and create the single new ground 
floor flat. The stated intention of the proposal is to create a resident owner/manager's 
flat to facilitate management of the remaining holiday let flats above. 
 

3.2 The application includes an updated Design and Access Statement, with the only 
additional information supplied over and above the previously-refused scheme being 
a letter from a property agent, Reed Rains, and a further statement from the business 
owner’s accountant. 

 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

4.1 Numbers 8 and 10 Trinity Crescent together have been operating as a holiday-let 

business under the name 'Meyrick Court'. Conversion of no.8 to self-contained 

apartments has been ongoing for some time following the grant of planning permission 

under reference Y14/1301/SH (Conversion from existing holiday flats to create five 

self-contained flats together with internal alterations, reinstatement of front door and 

reinstatement of internal staircase to facilitate conversion.)  

 

4.2 No.10 has been the subject of a certificate of lawful development (ref: Y15/0442/SH) 

for the use of a flat as unrestricted C3 use (residential) following a continuous period 

in excess of 10 years (therefore immune from enforcement) in breach of condition 2 of 

planning permission 83/1121/SH (time limit on occupation period). No.10 has also 

been the subject of planning permission Y15/1069/SH allowing full residential use of 

the basement flats.  

 

4.3 Condition 2 of planning permission 83/1121/SH ('Conversion of hotel into 14 self-

contained and 2 non self-contained self-catering studio holiday apartments', Approved 

with conditions 5th December 1983) reads: "No person or persons shall occupy any of 

the flats available for letting longer than a period of two months within any period of six 

months." 

 

4.4 Application Y18/1418/FH for the variation of condition 2 of application 83/1121/SH to 

allow permanent occupation of a ground floor flat following the amalgamation of two 

existing ground floor studio flats, was refused on 17.04.2019 for the following reason: 

 

The application includes insufficient evidence to justify the proposed loss of visitor 

accommodation in an area that is popular for tourist activity, and has failed to meet the 

exemption criteria of emerging policy E4 of the Places & Policies Local Plan and saved 

policy TM2 of the Shepway District Local Plan Review. As a result, the proposed loss 

of visitor accommodation has not been justified, would impact upon the local economy 

and is considered to be contrary to emerging and saved policies which seek to protect 

tourism-related accommodation and the principle of the proposal is unacceptable. 

Page 30



    

  DCL/20/09 
 

5. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

5.1 The consultation responses are summarised below. 

 

Consultees 

  

Folkestone Town Council: No objection. 

 

 

Local Residents Comments 

 

5.2 One representation received, being a typed letter counter-signed by six members of 

the public with the key issues summarised below: 

 

 No. 10 is not purpose built for its current use resulting in noise and disturbance 

to adjoining properties; 

 The nature of the users (holiday makers) means that they are likely to make 

noise, ignore requests to contain noise etc; 

 Permanent occupiers would strengthen local community; 

 Movements late at night / early mornings cause disturbance. 

 

5.3 Responses are available in full on the planning file on the Council’s website: 
 
 https://searchplanapps.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/online-applications/ 
 

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY  
 

6.1 The Development Plan comprises the saved polices of the Shepway District Local Plan 
Review (2006) and the Shepway Core Strategy Local Plan (2013) 

 
6.2 The new Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft (February 2018) has been 

subject to public examination, and as such its policies should now be afforded 
significant weight, according to the criteria in NPPF paragraph 48. 
 

6.3 The Folkestone & Hythe District Council Core Strategy Review Submission Draft 
(2019) was published under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public consultation between January and 
March 2019, as such its policies should be afforded weight where there are not 
significant unresolved objections. 

 
6.4 The relevant development plan policies are as follows:- 

 

Shepway District Local Plan Review (2013) 

SD1  – Sustainable Development 
HO1 – New Residential Development 

Page 31

https://searchplanapps.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/online-applications/


    

  DCL/20/09 
BE1 – Layout, design, materials of new development 
BE4 – Conservation Areas 
TM2 – Visitor Accommodation 
T5 – Cycling 
 
Shepway Local Plan Core Strategy (2013) 

DSD  – Delivering Sustainable Development 
SS1 – District Spatial Strategy 
CSD3 – Rural and Tourism Development 
CSD6 – Central Folkestone Strategy 
 

Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft (2019) 

HB1 – Quality Places through Design 
HB3 – Internal and External Space Standards 
E4 – Hotels and Guest Houses 
T2 – Parking Standards 
T5 – Cycle Parking 

 

Core Strategy Review Submission draft (2019) 

SS1 – District Spatial Strategy 
CSD3 – Rural and Tourism Development 
CSD6 – Central Folkestone Strategy 

 

6.5 The following are also material considerations to the determination of this application. 

 

Government Advice 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

 

6.6 Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. A significant 
material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF 
says that less weight should be given to the policies above if they are in conflict with 
the NPPF.  
 
Paragraph 8 – Three overriding objectives, economic, social and environmental 

Paragraph 11 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

Paragraph 47 - Applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with 

the development plan. 

Paragraph 48 – Giving weight to emerging plans. 

Paragraphs 59 to 66 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Design: process and tools 

Climate Change 

Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

Natural Environment 

Page 32



    

  DCL/20/09 
 

7. APPRAISAL 
 

7.1 In light of the above the main issues for consideration are: 
 

a) Principle of development 
 

b) Residential amenity 
 

c) Highways 
 

d) Other Issues 
 

e) Human Rights 
 

a) Principle of development 
 

7.2 The main consideration in the determination of this application is the principle of the 
proposed variation of condition to allow for the permanent residential (class C3) use of 
a newly formed flat. Since the previously-refused scheme was determined, the 
emerging policy E4 has gained significant weight, as the Places and Policies Local 
Plan has been through examination in public, with no modifications proposed to this 
policy. Consequently, there has been no change in the policy position or its wording, 
however the policies in question have gained weight as explained above.  
 

7.3 Emerging policy E4 states that applications for the change of use or redevelopment of 
hotels, guest houses or self-catering units which would result in a loss of visitor 
accommodation will only be permitted where: 
 

1. The standard and type of accommodation that is, or could be provided at 
reasonable cost, is unsuited to meet visitor demands; or 
 

2. In the case of hotels and guest houses, the premises or site are poorly located 
in relation to the areas of main tourist activity or tourist routes, and uses in the 
immediate vicinity are predominantly unrelated to tourism or incompatible with 
the continued tourist use of the premises; and 

 

3. In addition to the above, it has been demonstrated that the business has been 
marketed at a reasonable rate and for a period of 12 months. 

 
7.4 Saved policy TM2 of the Shepway District Local Plan Review states that applications 

for the change of use or redevelopment of hotels/guest houses, self-catering units or 
caravan and camp sites, which would result in a loss of visitor accommodation will only 
be permitted where it can be shown that it is no longer practicable to use the premises 
as holiday accommodation by reason of one of the following criteria: 
 

1. The standard and type of accommodation that is, or could be provided at 
reasonable cost, is unsuited to meet visitor demands; 
 

Page 33



    

  DCL/20/09 
2. In the case of hotels and guest houses, the premises or site are poorly located 

in relation to the areas of main tourist activity or tourist routes, and uses in the 
immediate vicinity are predominantly unrelated to tourism or incompatible with 
continued tourist use of the premises. 

 
Given the status of the emerging Places and Policies Local Plan, the adopted policy 
has diminished weight, with the emerging policy adding an additional provision over 
the previous one in the form of the evidence of marketing at a reasonable rate for a 12 
month period. This gives applicants a clear path to demonstrate whether the proposal 
is acceptable and gives decision-makers clear criteria to work with. Members should 
focus upon whether the additional information submitted is sufficient to overcome the 
previous reason for refusal. 
 

7.5 The application incorporates headline figures provided by Capital Accountants and 
statements from the Folkestone Hoteliers Association that were supplied with the 
previously refused scheme, as well as additional information including an updated 
Design and Access Statement that reflects the earlier decision, a letter from a property 
agent, Reed Rains outlining their enquiries relating to the sale of the property, and a 
further statement from the business owners accountant in an attempt to meet the 
exemption criteria listed in the policies relating to the loss of tourism-related 
accommodation.  

 
7.6 In assessing the revised application against emerging policy E4 and saved policy TM2, 

the previous statement from the Folkestone Hoteliers Association indicates that the 
current accommodation may not be suitable to meet visitor demands given their 
comments/observations regarding market trends. It is noted that these observations 
are not specific to the application site and no evidence has been provided that the 
visitor accommodation that would be lost under this proposal could not provide suitable 
visitor accommodation at a reasonable cost. Consequently, no new information has 
been submitted on this point and it is considered that the proposal still fails to meet 
exemption criteria 1 of emerging policy E4 and saved policy TM2.  

 
7.7 Turning to exemption criteria 2 of emerging policy E4 and saved policy TM2, it is 

considered that the site is not poorly located in relation to the area of main tourist 
activity given its proximity and connections to The Leas and Folkestone Town Centre 
and tourist activity is present in the immediate vicinity. Consequently, it is considered 
that the proposal fails to meet exemption criteria 2 of emerging policy E4 and saved 
policy TM2. 

 
7.8 With regard to exemption criteria 3, no evidence has been provided that the tourism-

related business has been marketed at a reasonable rate and for a period of 12 months 
to demonstrate that it is unviable. The letter from Reeds Rains identifies a perceived 
drop in investor demand for the type of property the application property is currently 
arranged as, suggesting that self-contained leasehold apartments would be the 
preferred choice. Within the design and Access Statement, the agent has stated that 
the owner “has no wish to market the business, but prefers to operate from within, in 
the interests of keeping his investment unsullied by third party ownership”. 
Consequently, there is considered to be no evidence of additional marketing having 
been carried out and no evidence to suggest that the business could not be viable 
under different management with suitable investment and marketing carried out. 

 

Page 34



    

  DCL/20/09 
7.9 The Capital Accountants letter included in the application states that company turnover 

decreased in 2018, whilst operating profit also fell significantly due to ‘an increase in 
overall administrative expenses’, and company liquidity ratios were not favourable 
(figures withheld from report for confidentiality purposes). The letter continues with the 
advice that the business owner should reconsider their ability to remain in business. 

 
7.10 Whilst the struggling nature of the business is not in question, none of the information 

provided shows that staff or external contractors are currently being paid for services, 
or that the property (and business) has been actively marketed for letting purposes. 
The loss of a further two units from the existing business is not going to make the 
existing business more viable – it will shrink the existing business and make it less 
likely to be able to support the owner. Current practices at the site include letting units 
for emergency accommodation (within the terms of the condition), which may further 
impact upon the desirability of the remaining units to potential holidaymakers and also 
result in the owner not advertising the units for their intended use. It is considered that 
the aim of local policy is to retain a range of good quality hotel and guest house 
accommodation in the district, which will appeal to all types of tourist, and resist the 
loss of visitor accommodation where this would be detrimental to the tourist economy. 
The application fails to meet exemption criteria 3 of emerging policy E4. 

 
7.11 Given the lack of marketing or advertising of services, it is no surprise that the business 

fails to attract customers. Officers have advised the applicant and agent of this, and 
have provided advice on how the policy objection could be overcome, however no such 
evidence has been submitted. In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be 
contrary to emerging policy E4 of the Places & Policies Local Plan and saved policy 
TM2 of the Shepway District Local Plan Review. On this basis, the proposed loss of 
visitor accommodation has not been justified, is considered to be contrary to policy and 
the principle of the proposal is considered to be unacceptable due to the detrimental 
impact it would have upon the available stock of visitor accommodation and the tourist 
economy. 

 
b) Residential amenity 

 
7.12 With regard to the space standards set out in emerging PPLP policy HB3, the 1-

bedroom flat which would be created under the proposal would exceed the relevant 
internal space standard of 50 sq m, with a floor area of approximately 72 sq m. It is 
noted that the flat would not have exclusive access to any outdoor amenity space, with 
emerging policy HB3 stating that a private usable balcony area with a minimum depth 
of 1.5m should be provided for flats, however this is considered to be acceptable in 
this case as the application site is in close proximity to the public open space of The 
Leas, and has access to a shared rear garden area. On this basis, it is considered that 
the level of amenity available to future occupiers of the proposed flat would be 
acceptable and that a variation to the external space standards can be accepted in this 
case given the character of the area.  

 
7.13 Given that the proposal does not include any external alterations, it is considered that 

there would be no material or discernible net impacts on neighbouring amenity in 
respect of any overlooking, overbearing presence, overshadowing, or noise and 
disturbance, in accordance with saved policy SD1.  

 
c) Highways 

 

Page 35



    

  DCL/20/09 
7.14 Current arrangements for parking (on-street) would be acceptable given the proposed 

changes would not give rise to any additional parking requirement relative to the 
existing use and the site is considered to be a sustainable location, which benefits from 
good public transport connections, with the proposal considered to be acceptable with 
regard to emerging policy T2.  

 
d) Other Issues 

 

7.15 The current bin storage and collection arrangements would be acceptable to meet the 
demands of the new 1-bedroom flat following the proposed amalgamation of two studio 
units. 

 
Environmental Impact Assessment 

 
7.16 In accordance with the EIA Regulations 2017, this development has been considered 

in light of Schedules 1& 2 of the Regulations and it is not considered to fall within either 
category and as such does not require screening for likely significant environmental 
effects. 
 

Local Finance Considerations  
 

7.17 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) provides that 
a local planning authority must have regard to a local finance consideration as far as it 
is material. Section 70(4) of the Act defines a local finance consideration as a grant or 
other financial assistance that has been, that will, or that could be provided to a relevant 
authority by a Minister of the Crown (such as New Homes Bonus payments), or sums 
that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy.  
 

7.18 In accordance with policy SS5 of the Core Strategy Local Plan the Council has 
introduced a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) scheme, which in part replaces 
planning obligations for infrastructure improvements in the area. This application is not 
liable for the CIL charge as it varies a previous planning permission and would not 
create any additional floor space. 
 
Human Rights 

 
7.18 In reaching a decision on a planning application the European Convention on Human 

Rights must be considered. The Convention Rights that are relevant are Article 8 and 
Article 1 of the first protocol. The proposed course of action is in accordance with 
domestic law. As the rights in these two articles are qualified, the Council needs to 
balance the rights of the individual against the interests of society and must be satisfied 
that any interference with an individual’s rights is no more than necessary. Having 
regard to the previous paragraphs of this report, it is not considered that there is any 
infringement of the relevant Convention rights. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 

 
7.19 In determining this application, regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty 

(PSED) as set down in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, in particular with regard 
to the need to: 

Page 36



    

  DCL/20/09 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. It is considered that the 
application proposals would not undermine objectives of the Duty. 

 
It is considered that the application proposals would not conflict with objectives of the 
Duty. 

 
Working with the applicant  

 
7.20  In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the NPPF, Folkestone and Hythe District Council 

(F&HDC) takes a positive and creative approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. F&HDC works with applicants/agents in a positive and creative manner.  

8. CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 The proposed variation of condition would result in the loss of visitor accommodation 
in an area that is popular for tourist activity.  
 

8.2 The application fails to provide sufficient evidence to justify this loss or meet the 
exemption criteria of emerging policy E4 of the Places & Policies Local Plan and saved 
policy TM2 of the Shepway District Local Plan Review.  

 

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

9.1 The consultation responses set out at Section 5.0 are background documents for the 
purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That planning permission be refused for the reason set out below. 

  
1. The application includes insufficient evidence to justify the proposed loss of visitor 

accommodation in an area that is popular for tourist activity, and has failed to meet the 

exemption criteria of emerging policy E4 of the Places & Policies Local Plan Submission 

Draft and saved policy TM2 of the Shepway District Local Plan Review. As a result, the 

proposed loss of visitor accommodation has not been justified, would impact upon the 

local economy and is considered to be contrary to emerging and saved policies which 

seek to protect tourism-related accommodation and the principle of the proposal is 

unacceptable.  

  

Page 37



    

  DCL/20/09 
Appendix 1 – Site Location Plan 

 

Page 38



Cordova Court

to 22

197

The

10 to 14

Hatfield Lodge

Garden House

9 t
o 1

1

CLIFTON ROAD

1 to 19

5 t
o 7

45

10

1

LB

2

5

1 to 12
Madeira

to

Mansions

3 to 5

6 to 9

1

Residential HomeEl Sub Sta

1 to 50

142

191

CLIFTON

2

2

Quain Court

1 to 10

Bath Court

CRESCENT

7
9

22

Grand CLIFTON CRESCENT

Court

Lodge

Hall

1

13

199

Clifton

2

Court

12

46.2m

TRINITY GARDENS

14

Holy Trinity Church

El Sub Sta

TRINITY

2

TCB

46.9m

1
3

19

31

Edinburgh
Place

3

13

189

3

8

CRESCENT

20

1

10
4

5

1516

9

1

621900.00

621900.00

622000.00

622000.00

622100.00

622100.00

13
54

00
.00

13
54

00
.00

13
55

00
.00

13
55

00
.00

13
56

00
.00

13
56

00
.00

´

0 20 40 60 8010
Meters

Contains Ordnance Survey data 
© Crown copyright and database right 2020
Folkestone & Hythe District Council 100019677 
 

Y19/0967/FH
Flat 4

10 Trinity Crescent
Folkestone

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



   DCL/20/10 
Application No: Y18/1529/FH 

 

Location of Site: 

 

 

Former Folkestone Youth Centre, Shepway Close, Folkestone, 

Shepway Close Folkestone Kent 

 

Development: 

 

 

Erection of 17 Two Storey Dwellings and 2 Three Storey 

Apartment Blocks Comprising 30 Apartments with Associated 

Access, Parking, Private Amenity Space and Public Open 

Space. 

 

Applicant: 

 

Mr Dwyer – Dwyer Engineering Services Ltd. 

Agent: 

 

Mr Duncan Parr – Rapleys LLP. 

Officer Contact:   

  

Robert.davis@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk 

  

SUMMARY 

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 47 dwellings comprising 

17 houses and 30 apartments. The site is allocated for residential development under draft 

policy UA6 of the emerging Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft. The 

development would not give rise to any significant amenity concerns or other material 

planning concerns and is considered to constitute sustainable development.  The application 

has been revised during the course of the application process following advice from Officers 

and is recommended for approval subject to the attached conditions and the completion of 

an S106 legal agreement to secure affordable housing and contributions towards local 

infrastructure. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That delegation be given to the Chief Planning Officer to grant planning permission 
subject to considering the reconsultation responses received raising no substation 
new issues, subject to the conditions set out at the end of the report, the applicant 
entering into a S106 legal agreement securing 15 affordable housing units and the 
provision of £106,910.09 towards community infrastructure and to finalise the 
wording of the conditions and the legal agreement including adding any other 
conditions that he considers necessary. 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1. The application is reported to the Planning and Licensing Committee because the land 
was previously in the ownership of Folkestone and Hythe District Council and being of 
strategic importance.  

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 

2.1. The application site comprises a parcel of land measuring approximately 0.79ha in 
extent located within the Folkestone built up area. Formerly part of the site contained 
a youth centre which has now been demolished.  Subsequently the site was identified 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Robert.davis@folkestone-hythe.gov.uk


   DCL/20/10 
as an Area of Potential open Space in the Local Plan (2006), but it has neither been 
accessible to, nor been useable by, members of the public.  
 

2.2. The site lies within the centre of a well-established residential area. The northern 
boundary is marked by Shepway Close, which provides the only vehicular access into 
and out of the site. There are existing residential properties on Walter Tull Way to the 
north east, to the rear south-east of the site are existing residential properties on 
Brambledown and Peto Close. A footpath and cycle path runs along the western 
boundary, providing a direct link between Black Bull Road and Dover Road. 
Neighbouring properties vary in scale but are generally two stories high. 

 
2.3. In terms of ground levels across the site, land rises gradually from north-west to south-

east and consists of former grassland. The site is currently fenced off. 
 
2.4. The development is located in Flood Zone 1, as defined by the Environment Agency, 

but is in reasonably close proximity to Flood Zones 2 and 3. A mains drain sewer runs 
across the site for which a 6m easement either side is required.     
 

2.5. A site location plan is attached to this report as Appendix 1. 

3. PROPOSAL 
 

3.1 Full planning permission is sought for the erection of 17 two storey dwellings and 2 
three storey apartment blocks comprising a total of 30 units, with associated vehicular 
and pedestrian access, parking, private amenity space and parcels of public open 
space on land off Shepway Close. 
 

3.2 The housing would be located towards the rear section of the site with plots 1 to 13 
backing onto the southern boundary and plots 14 to 17 forming a terrace set at a right 
angle, with plot 17 presenting its side elevation towards Brambledown Close. The two 
apartment blocks would be situated within the north eastern portion of the site. Plots 
2-6 would be two bedroom properties with the remaining houses offering three 
bedrooms. Apartment Block 1 would provide 8 one bedroom and 13 two bedroom 
apartments and Block 2 would provide 9 two bedroom apartments. An area of open 
space, 0.12ha in extent, would be located within the western part of the site and a 
smaller area of 0.06ha to the south east. The site layout drawing below shows the 
various elements of the scheme and how they relate to each other and their 
surroundings. 

 

3.3 The housing would consist of terraced and a pair of semi-detached properties with 5 
two bedroom dwellings and 12 three bedroom dwellings. They would be constructed 
in red brick with contrasting small blue engineered brick sections on their ground floor 
facades and larger sections of red brick detailing providing interest to their appearance 
together with pitched grey slate roofs and grey window frames.  

 

3.4 The 2 three storey apartment blocks would continue with the detailing and slate roofs 
of the houses but would principally be in a contrasting lighter buff/cream brick with 
recessed brick box sections surrounding the windows to provide architectural and 
visual interest to their elevations. A number of the apartments would be provided with 
Juliet style balconies equipped with iron railings to provide an amenable outlook over 
the soft landscaped areas.   

 

Page 42



   DCL/20/10 
3.5 The main access to the site would adopt a T shape with the point of access onto 

Shepway Close just to the west of the central part of the site frontage. A secondary 
minor point of access would lead to a parking area east of Block 2 containing 13 
parking spaces with spaces closest to Shepway Close featuring pergola coverings. A 
further 8 parking spaces would be provided accessed from Walter Tull Way. Either side 
of the spine of the access road there would be a total of 6 parallel parking visitor spaces 
and a further 3 parallel parking spaces would be provided to the south of the main 
public open space. A further 33 parking spaces would be provided at right angles to 
the main east to west cross section of the road.   

 

3.6 Each house would be provided with a private rear amenity space and the apartments 
would have access to a rectangular private courtyard garden area which the two L 
shaped apartment blocks would wrap around in part whilst providing an open southerly 
aspect to the garden area to ensure it receives sunlight and provides an agreeable 
feature for residents.  

 

3.7 In addition to the garden areas the layout provides for two communal open spaces with 
a main 0.12 ha area located to the west of the spine access roar where it would be 
overlooked by Block 2 and the majority of houses located to the southern end of the 
site. The frontage of the four dwellings on plots 14 to 17 and the southern elevation of 
Block 1 would look out onto a smaller open space, 0.06ha in extent. These communal 
spaces would be provided with recreational and play area equipment to encourage 
their active use. The remainder of the development would provide soft landscaping and 
tree planting around the frontages to the houses and around the apartment blocks to 
soften the built appearance of the development and subdivide sections of the vehicle 
parking spaces. The final details of the provision of landscaping, play areas and a 
maintenance schedule would be secured by condition. 

 

 

 
 

Page 43



   DCL/20/10 
3.8 The following reports were submitted by the applicant in support of the proposals: 

 
Planning, Design and Access Statement 
 

3.9 In line with the NPPF the statement discusses the site context, the policy context and 
how issues and constraints specific to the site have been addressed. It also provides 
details of the pre-application advice sought from the Council (under reference 
Y18/0170/PREAPP). 
 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
 

3.10 A Preliminary Ecology Appraisal by KB Ecology (June 2018) has been submitted. The 
purpose of the Appraisal is to provide a scoping assessment and to assist in 
demonstrating compliance with wildlife legislation and planning policy objectives. The 
report found the site to be composed of improved grassland, with evidence of fly 
tipping, and small patches of brambles. A small number of self-seeded trees were 
present alongside the southern boundary. 
 

3.11 In summary it was found that due to the urban setting of the site and the distance to 
the nearest pond it was judged unlikely to provide habitat for Great Crested Newts or 
reptiles. The site has the potential for nesting birds but ground nesting birds would not 
be evident due to regular site maintenance. The trees present would not be suitable 
for roosting bats. No badger sets or evidence of activity were found. It was considered 
that the site and surrounding gardens had potential to support hedgehog. The 
appraisal recommended ecological enhancements be made to encourage biodiversity 
as required by the NPPF. 

 
Foul and Surface Water Management Strategy 
 

3.12 A Foul and Surface Water Management Strategy by RMB Consultants (Civil 
Engineering) (June 2018) has been submitted. This provides an analysis of the sites 
characteristics and any drainage issues that may arise as well as a strategy for the 
management for both foul and surface water disposal. It demonstrates that the disposal 
for surface water by attenuation and discharge to the combined sewer is appropriate 
for the site and provides draft proposals for a drainage scheme. 
 
Contamination Sitecheck Report 
 

3.13 A Phase 1 Environmental Assessment by Soiltec Laboratories (February 2019) has 
been submitted to ascertain any land related issues. The report details a walkover 
survey, provides a historical analysis of the site and its environs and any environmental 
concerns. The report concludes that any environmental risk to future occupants would 
not be significant. An intrusive site investigation is recommended to ascertain any 
contamination on the site and provides detail of the investigation required. 
 
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment 
 

3.14 Swale and Thames Survey Company (August 2018) has provided a desk based report 
using historical evidence to explore and disseminate the known and potential heritage 
resources within the local area. It provides a background of the policy and legislation 
relating to heritage. The report analysed available data resources, refers to other 
intrusive archaeological events within the wider assessment area and a site walkover 
took place. The report found that the likelihood of archaeological deposits to be found 

Page 44



   DCL/20/10 
on the site to be low for all periods but that the need for, scale, scope and nature of 
any further assessment should be agreed through consultation with statutory 
authorities. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

4.1 There is no relevant site history. 

 

5. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

5.1 The consultation responses are summarised below. 

 

Consultees 

  

Folkestone Town Council: Object unless 30% of the development allows for 

social/affordable housing and the Committee express concerns for larger vehicles 

access on the highway 

 

KCC Archaeological: It is possible that the proposed development might affect 

remains of archaeological interest. Suggest that provision is made within any 

forthcoming planning consent for a programme of archaeological work. 

 

KCC Highways and Transportation: Note the submission of revised parking layouts 

and vehicle tracking for a refuse vehicle which are acceptable. No drawing has been 

supplied regarding the extent of the proposed adoptable highway which needs to be 

to the satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority. If this is not provided prior to the 

application being determined the adoption of the new roads by the Local Highway 

Authority cannot be guaranteed. 

 

KCC Ecology: The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted and we are 

satisfied that no further ecological work is required. Recommend conditions relating to 

hedgehog mitigation and biological enhancements. 

 

KCC Flood and Water Management: We have reviewed the surface water drainage 

prepared by RMB and would support the drainage scheme provided that infiltration is 

not feasible on site. The western part of the site appears to be underlain by Folkestone 

beds and could provide opportunities for disposal of water to ground. We would 

recommend that ground investigations be undertaken to determine if infiltration is 

viable for this part of the site. Recommend conditions relating to a detailed surface 

water drainage scheme and verification report.  

 

KCC Public Rights of Way: The public footpath HBX16 runs adjacent to the proposed 

site, as the plans are currently submitted there will be no direct impact on the route by 

the development and raise no objections to the proposal. 

 

KCC – Contributions sought for secondary education, community learning, libraries 

and social care. 

Page 45



   DCL/20/10 
 

Kent Police: If the application is approved we request that a condition or informative 

be included to show a clear audit trail for Design for Crime Prevention and Community 

Safety. 

 

Environment Agency: No objection subject to recommended conditions relating to a 

remediation strategy, verification report, land contamination, foul and surface water 

drainage system, piling or any other foundation designs. 

 

Southern Water: Satisfied with determination and demonstration of the easement for 

the public critical trunk sewer and proximity of structures. It should be noted, however, 

for further design that no ponds, swales, or other water conveying or retaining features 

shall be relocated within this easement. Condition recommended relating to details of 

foul and surface water sewerage. 

 

Contamination Consultant: The Environmental Statement is of a suitable standard 

and we concur with risk assessment and the recommendation that further investigation 

is required. Given the presence of the adjacent historical gasholder recommend the 

scope of the site investigation is extended so that contaminants of concern also include 

gasworks type chemicals. Consideration of risks from contaminant vapours may be 

applicable dependent on the findings of the site investigation. 

 

Landscape and Urban Design Officer: Recommended changes to the original 

design which have now been addressed in the resubmitted layout and designs.  

 

Arboricultural Manager: No objections to the proposed development. Request that a 

full soft landscaping plan is submitted for consideration. 

 

Local Residents Comments 

 

5.2 The application has been subject to consultation on three occasions as a result of 

changes to the layout and design of the dwellings following advice from Officer’s and 

responses from consultees and neighbours. Whilst the last consultation included the 

most up-to-date plans, it was not made clear that the unit numbers had increased.  As 

such, an additional consultation is currently being undertaken that is due to finish 30th 

July 2020. 

 

5.3 89 neighbours directly consulted.   

 

5.4 The key issues are summarised below: 

 

3rd Consultation – Two letters of objection received 

 

 Struggle to get to Shepway Close due to parking in Linden Crescent, Archer 

Close , Dawson Road 

 Will cause congestion all the time 

Page 46



   DCL/20/10 
 Bin men struggle to get down roads 

 

2nd Consultation – Five letters of objection received 

 Too much development for a small area 

 Highway issues 

 3 storey blocks not in keeping with area 

 Noise pollution, spoiled views and reduced light to properties 

 

1st Consultation – Six letters of objection received 

 Land covenanted to local people 

 Too many properties 

 3 storey apartment blocks unnecessary  

 Inability of exiting local roads to cope – effectively single track 

 Alternative road access should be sought 

 Sewer and drains can’t cope 

 

5.5 Responses are available in full on the planning file on the Council’s website: 
 
 https://searchplanapps.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/online-applications/ 
 

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY  
 

6.1 The Development Plan comprises the saved polices of the Shepway District Local Plan 
Review (2006) and the Shepway Core Strategy Local Plan (2013) 

 
6.2 The new Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft (February 2018) has been 

the subject to public examination, and as such its policies should now be afforded 
significant weight, according to the criteria in NPPF paragraph 48. 
 

6.3 The Folkestone & Hythe District Council Core Strategy Review Submission Draft 
(2019) was published under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public consultation between January and 
March 2019, as such its policies should be afforded weight where there are not 
significant unresolved objections. 

 
6.4 The relevant development plan policies are as follows:- 

 

Shepway District Local Plan Review (2006) 

 

SD1  – Sustainable Development 

HO1 – New Residential Development 

BE1 – Design  

BE13 – Urban Amenity Space 

BE16 – Landscape Features 

LR9 – Public Open Space 

LR10 – Play Areas 

Page 47

https://searchplanapps.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/online-applications/


   DCL/20/10 
TR5 – Provision of Facilities for Cycling in New Developments and contributions 

Towards Cycle Routes 

TR6 – Pedestrians  

TR11 – Access to the Highway Network 

TR12 – Vehicle Parking Standards   

U4 – Protection of Ground and Surface Water Resources 

U10a – Requirements for Development on Contaminated Land  

 

Shepway Local Plan Core Strategy (2013) 

 

DSD  – Delivering Sustainable Development 

SS1 – District Spatial Strategy 

SS2 – Housing and the Economy Growth Strategy 

SS3 – Place-shaping and sustainable settlements strategy 

SS5 – District Infrastructure Planning 

CSD1 – Balanced Neighbourhoods for Shepway 

CSD2 – District Residential Needs 

CSD5 – Water Efficiency 

 

Places and Policies Local Plan Submission Draft (2019) 

The Submission draft of the PPLP (February 2018) was published under Regulation 
19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) 
for public consultation between February and March 2018. The Plan was submitted to 
the Secretary of State for independent examination in September 2018. An 
examination-in-public was held in 2019, with hearing sessions taking place from 15-17 
May 2019. The Inspector recommended a limited number of Main Modifications to the 
Plan which were consulted on from 13 January to 24 February 2020. The Inspectors 
report has found the plan ‘sound’ subject to making a few modifications and as such 
substantial weight can now be given to the policies. The Plan will now go through the 
Council’s internal processes to be formally adopted. Full weight should be given to the 
policies in the plan once it is adopted. 

 
Accordingly, it is a material consideration in the assessment of planning applications 
in accordance with the NPPF, which states that the more advanced the stage that an 
emerging plan has reached, the greater the weight that may be given to it (paragraph 
48). Based on the current stage of preparation, and given the relative age of the saved 
policies within the Shepway Local Plan Review (2006), the policies within the 
Submission Draft Places and Policies Local Plan (2018), as proposed to be modified 
by the published Main Modifications (2020), may be afforded significant weight. The 
following draft policies apply: 

 

UA6 – Shepway Close 

HB1 – Quality Places through Design 

HB2 – Cohesive Design 

HB3 – Internal and External Space Standards 

E8 – Provision of Fibre to the Premises 

C1 – Creating a sense of Place  

C3 – Provision of Open Space  

Page 48



   DCL/20/10 
CC3 – Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

T1 – Street Hierarchy and Site Layout 

T2 – Parking Standards 

T5 – Cycle parking 

NE2 – Biodiversity 

NE7 – Contaminated Land 

CC2 – Sustainable Design and Construction  

CC3 – SuDs 

HE2 - Archaeology 

 

Core Strategy Review Submission Draft (2019) 

The Submission draft of the Core Strategy Review was published under Regulation 19 
of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for 
public consultation between January and March 2019. Following changes to national 
policy, a further consultation was undertaken from 20 December 2019 to 20 January 
2020 on proposed changes to policies and text related to housing supply. The Core 
Strategy Review was then submitted to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination on 10 March 2020.  

 
Accordingly, it is a material consideration in the assessment of planning applications 
in accordance with the NPPF, which states that the more advanced the stage that an 
emerging plan has reached, the greater the weight that may be given to it (paragraph 
48). Based on the current stage of preparation, the policies within the Core Strategy 
Review Submission Draft may be afforded weight where there has not been significant 
objection. The following draft policies apply: 

 

SS1  – District Spatial Strategy 

SS2 – Housing and the Economy Growth Strategy 

SS3 – Place Shaping and Sustainable Settlements Strategy 

SS5 – District Infrastructure Planning 

CSD1  – Balanced Neighbourhoods 

CSD2  – District Residential Needs 

CSD5 – Water Efficiency 

 

6.5 The following are also material considerations to the determination of this application. 

 

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

Kent Design Guide 

Kent Vehicle Parking Standards 
 

Government Advice 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

 

6.6 Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance with the 

Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. A significant 

material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF 

Page 49



   DCL/20/10 
says that less weight should be given to the policies above if they are in conflict with 

the NPPF. The following sections of the NPPF   are relevant to this application:- 

 

Para. 8 sets out the three main strands of sustainable development: economic, social, 
and environmental.  Para. 11 then sets out that to achieve these aims development 
proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved 
“without delay.”  Para. 12 clearly sets out that the starting point for decision-making is 
the development plan. 

 
Para. 20 requires Councils to have strategic policies that make sufficient provision for 

housing, infrastructure, and community facilities in appropriate locations, while 

ensuring conservation of natural and historic environments.  Para. 22 then sets out that 

such strategic policies should look ahead over a minimum of 15 years (hence the 

lengthy span of the adopted and emerging Local Plans). Paragraph 47 - Applications 

for planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan. 

 
Section 5 of the NPPF requires Councils to deliver a sufficient supply of homes, of 
varying types and tenures, to meet an identifiable need.  Para. 67 requires Councils to 
have an identifiable supply of specific and deliverable housing sites to meet demand 
for at least 5yrs hence, and para. 72 advises Councils to identify and allocate sites to 
meet this need. 

 
Para. 109 states that “development should only be prevented or refused on highway 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” 

 
Para.117 encourages best, most productive use of land to meet the need for homes, 
while safeguarding the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.  
Para. 122 encourages development at appropriate densities, taking into account the 
character of the site and the need for different types of housing. 

  
Section 12 aims to achieve well-designed developments and places. 

 
Para. 170 requires planning decisions to protect and enhance the natural environment; 

minimise impact upon and provide net gain for biodiversity; and mitigate and remediate 

despoiled land and pollution.  Para. 175 deals with biodiversity in particular, and sets 

out that developments which give rise to significant harm in this regard should be 

refused. 

 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Design: process and tools 

Climate Change 

Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

Natural Environment 

 

National Design Guide October 2019  

 

 C1 - Understand and relate well to the site, its local and wider context  

 I2  - Well-designed, high quality and attractive  

Page 50



   DCL/20/10 
Paragraph 53 ‘Well designed places are visually attractive and aim to 

delight their occupants and passers-by’.  

 N3 - Support rich and varied biodiversity  

 

7. APPRAISAL 
 

7.1 In light of the above the main issues for consideration are: 
 

a) Principle of development and sustainability 
 

b) Design/layout/visual amenity 
 

c) Residential amenity 
 

d) Parking and access 
 

e) Ecology and biodiversity 
 

f) Contamination 
 

g) Drainage 
 

h) Archaeology 
 

i) Affordable housing provision and financial contributions 
 

j) Other matters 
 

 

 

a) Principle of development and sustainability 
 

7.2 The site is within the built up urban area of Folkestone and is proposed to be formally 
allocated for residential development by policy UA6 of the emerging Places and 
Policies Local Plan (PPLP).  This allocation forms part of the Council’s formal housing 
land supply strategy going forward to 2031, and is the basis of how the Council will 
meet its identified rolling 5yr housing land supply requirement. 
 

7.3 Policy UA6 of the PPLP allocates the land for residential development with an 
estimated capacity 35 dwellings and 0.15ha of public open space and states; 

 
Development proposals will be supported where: 
 
1. An area of 0.15ha is provided as landscaped open space including a natural play 

area, which should be integral to the overall layout. A management company or 
other solution should be established for its long term maintenance; 

2. They are accompanied by a full ecological survey and adequate biodiversity 
mitigation measures implemented where necessary; 

3. A strategy for the management of surface water is included within the development 
proposals; 

Page 51



   DCL/20/10 
4. Access is maintained to the existing underground sewerage infrastructure for 

maintenance and up-sizing purposes; and 
5. The archaeological potential of the land is properly considered and appropriate 

archaeological mitigation measures are put in place. 
 

7.4 The development would provide a total of 47 dwellings, higher than the estimated 
capacity of 35 as set out within the policy. The quantum of development has increased 
during the application process as a result of a decrease in the number of proposed 
houses and an increase in the number of apartments.  This was negotiated by Officers 
to enable a more efficient layout incorporating additional parking, landscaping, open 
space and improved architecture. This has enabled a more effective use of the land 
and would provide open space of 0.18ha, greater than that sought by policy UA6, with 
the main area providing a green square with a frontage onto Shepway Close which 
improves the outlook of the proposed and existing dwellings in the vicinity, providing 
an improved frontage and adding to the character and appearance of the area. 
 

7.5 Overall given the urban location, the sites allocation in the emerging Places and 
Policies Local Plan and that the relevant criteria has been addressed it is considered 
that the principle of development is acceptable and that the three principles of 
sustainability (economic, social and environmental) are achieved.  
 

b) Design Layout and Visual Amenity 
 

 

 
 
 

 
7.6 The site has an area of 0.79ha and the provision of 47 dwellings would result in a 

density of 59 dwellings per hectare. However, despite the density increase, the 
development would provide good, useable areas of open space and promote a feeling 
of spaciousness about the buildings being set within three generous areas of open 
space.  As such, the density combined with the design of the buildings result in a 
development that appears in character with the local area. 
 

7.7 The layout has altered during the consideration of the application and now works to 
maximise use of the site whilst working around the constraints; principally the 
surrounding residential land uses and a 1800mm brick combined sewer that runs 
diagonally across the site. 

Page 52



   DCL/20/10 
 

7.8 The layout has been arranged to ensure that the buildings would maintain a good 
degree of separation from existing neighbouring residential properties. 

 
7.9 The development provides a good level of attractive and useable open space for the 

benefit of both the proposed residents and existing residents within the wider area.  
The smaller area also would provide play area equipment for families. 

 
7.10 The residential development in close proximity to the site is largely made up of a mix 

of two and three storey semi-detached and terraced housing and apartments, utilising 
varying external materials including brickwork of different colours, external cladding 
and render. The proposed development has been designed to utilise a mix of materials 
and design features which would complement the mixed visual character of the area 
whilst providing a more contemporary design approach. As such it is considered that 
the proposed development would respond to the existing character whilst providing a 
modern offering seeking to enhance the visual appearance of this area of Folkestone. 
The form and scale of the proposed development is considered to be appropriate for 
the area, considering the scale of surrounding development. 

 

7.11 The dwellings, all of which are of a similar character and materials pallete, although of 
varying designs, would incorporate a degree of contrast in presenting both gabled front 
elevations and contrasting front facing roof pitches. This results in visual interest, 
ensuring that sections of contrasting red brick detail avoid uniformity and provides 
design interest. Adjacent to the front doors would be a contrasting section of a blue 
engineered brick panelling with windows featuring grey frames. The roofing would be 
finished in composite slate. These materials are considered to be of a suitable quality 
for the type of development envisaged and appropriate to the character of the area. 

 

7.12 The apartments are of a slightly utilitarian design composed of a contrasting buff/cream 
brick, and metal detailing. This gives the apartment buildings their own character quite 
distinct from the dwellings and adds visual interest to the site.  The elevations have 
been designed to include recessed panel detailing about the windows of the 
apartments with sections of blue engineered brick adjacent the windows, along with 
Juliet balconies and contrasting positions between the windows to break up the bulk 
and scale and add interest.  

 
7.13 Overall it is considered that the proposal represents a good quality of design, with the 

use of design features and contrasting materials, in full accordance with saved policies 
SD1 and BE1 of the Local Plan Review and emerging policy HB1 of the Places and 
Policies Local Plan. 

 
c) Residential Amenity 

 
7.14 Saved Policy SD1 of the Local Plan Review and paragraph 127 of the NPPF require 

that consideration should be given to the residential amenities of both neighbouring 
properties and to future occupiers of a development. Emerging policy HB1 of the 
Places and Policies Local Plan (PPLP) states that development should not lead to an 
adverse impact on the amenity of future occupiers, neighbours, or the surrounding 
area, taking account of loss of privacy, loss of light and poor outlook. 
 

7.15 The three storey apartment blocks have been positioned such that there would not 
result in any overshadowing, to a significant degree, of existing dwellings and all 

Page 53



   DCL/20/10 
windows would look out onto the public realm such that there are no privacy concerns. 
There would be a 20m face to face separation distance between the nearest apartment 
block and the dwellings on Walter Tull Way. Similarly the housing is situated to the 
north of existing development and is orientated to ensure that there is a suitable degree 
of separation to the existing dwellings to the south such that there are no concerns 
relating to overlooking or overshadowing. Plots 7 and 8 would have their rear 
elevations facing the side elevation of 3 Peto Close with a separation distance of 14m. 
Plots 12 and 13 would face the side elevation of 20 Brambledown Close with a 
separation distance of 12.5m. Plot 17 would present its side elevation towards the rear 
elevation of 19 Brambledown Close with a separation distance of 12.5m. Aside from 
plots 9 to 11 which would have their rear gardens bordering existing rear gardens the 
other proposed dwellings would have a rear outlook over the public realm.  
Furthermore the topography of the area is such that the neighbouring dwellings to the 
south are at a raised level further limiting any adverse impact on neighbouring amenity 
through overlooking or other privacy concerns. 
 

7.16 In order to ensure a good quality living environment for future occupiers emerging 
policy HB3 of the PPLP requires new development to provide sufficient internal floor 
space, private external space and  discrete storage space for refuse bins and cycles. 
The submitted accommodation schedule indicates that all dwellings would meet the 
required space standard. All houses would be provided with an appropriately sized 
garden area with the apartments benefitting from a communal garden area. In addition 
all dwellings would have access to the two areas of open space. The houses would be 
able to locate their refuse bins within the rear gardens with all houses being able to 
bring their bins to the roadside on collection day via side and rear passageways. The 
apartments would have communal collection facilities. 

 

7.17 It is considered that the proposed development has been successfully laid out to avoid 
any significant adverse impact on amenity and that is in full accordance with the 
relevant policies noted above.  
 

d) Parking and Access 
 

7.18 Access will be provided by a main access point onto Shepway Close and a secondary 
access to the parking area of the apartment blocks. Use would also made of Walter 
Tull Way to access parking spaces associated with the eastern apartment block. 
 

7.19 The parking has been carefully designed into the proposed layout to prevent the site 
from becoming car dominated whilst meeting the required demand. The vehicle 
parking bays are of a suitable size meeting the required 5m x 2.5m space standard of 
the Kent Design Guide Interim Guidance Note 3 (IGN3). A total of 60 parking spaces 
would be provided across the development located adjacent to the buildings or, in the 
case of visitor paring located, adjacent parallel to the main access road. The layout 
plan indicates there would be 30 spaces allocated for the apartments, 21 spaces would 
be allocated for the houses and in addition 9 spaces are marked as visitor spaces. As 
such, it is not considered the proposal would result in any significant highway amenity 
issues. 

 

7.20 The highway has been designed to be of an adoptable standard however the final 
details would need to be agreed with the Highway Authority. Visibility splays at the 
access from Shepway Close would be in accordance with the highway standard for the 

Page 54



   DCL/20/10 
category of the road. As such, it is considered the proposal would be safe in highway 
terms. 

 

7.21 Notwithstanding some concerns from local residents regarding the capacity of the local 
highway network and in noting the consultation response from the Highway Authority 
it is considered that the proposal would not result in any detrimental highway amenity 
or safety issues and that the proposal would be in accordance with saved policies TR11 
and TR12 of the Local Plan Review and to emerging policies T2 and T5 of the Places 
and Policies Local Plan. 

 
e) Ecology and biodiversity 

 
7.22 The applicant has submitted a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal KB Ecology (June 

2018. Given the urban location, that the site has been regularly maintained and now 
cleared, it is not of ecological interest aside from the potential to support hedgehogs 
given the surrounding residential gardens. KCC Ecological Advice Service have 
considered the submitted documentation and consider that sufficient information has 
been provided to enable the applicant to demonstrate that the proposed development 
will not result in a likely significant effects on ecological interest. In line with the 
requirements of paragraph 175 of the NPPF a condition requiring biodiversity 
enhancement of the site is recommended.  
 

f) Contamination 
 

7.23 The applicant has submitted a Phase 1 Environmental Report which considers that the 
site represents a very low to low/moderate environmental risk. It concludes that it is 
necessary to carry out a phase II intrusive investigation of the site. 
 

7.24 The Council’s land contamination consultant, IDOM Merebook Ltd. has reviewed the 
report in the context of the Council’s standard land contamination condition and 
considers the report to be of a suitable scope and standard to address part 1 (Desk 
Study and Conceptual Model) of the standard condition and agrees with the 
recommendation that further investigation is required. Given that an adjacent site, now 
developed for housing, was the site of a historical gasholder, a recommendation is 
made that the site investigation is extended so that contaminants of concern also 
include gasworks type chemicals such as cyanide and phenol which are not listed in 
the proposals. Also recommended are consideration of risks from contaminant vapours 
as well as the usual ground gases depending on the findings of the site investigation. 

 

7.25 The Council’s Environmental Health department has no objection to the development 
subject to the recommendations of the Council’s land contamination consultant and 
the standard land contamination requiring an intrusive investigation of the site. As 
such, it is considered the site could be successfully developed subject to suitable 
investigation and mitigation. 

 
g) Drainage 

 
7.26 The site is shown in the Environment Agency mapping to lie in Flood Zone 1 (low risk). 

Flood Zone 1 is the area described as having a less than 0.1% annual probability of 
fluvial or tidal flooding. All land uses are appropriate in this flood zone. The site is not 
at risk from off-site surface water. Shepway Close is served by public combined sewers 
and the topography of the site allows the site to be drained to these sewers by gravity. 

Page 55



   DCL/20/10 
 

7.27 Paragraph 165 of the NPPF requires major developments to incorporate sustainable 
drainage systems. 

 

7.28 The applicant has submitted a Foul and Surface Water Management Strategy by RMB 
Consultants (June 2018) detailing the management of foul and surface water across 
the development. The report demonstrates that it is not possible to drain to a single 
attenuation structure and that the site be divided into two catchments with appropriate 
structures put in situ.  

 

7.29 KCC, acting as the Lead Local Flood Authority, have reviewed the documentation, and 
note that whist exceedance of the drainage system is acceptable for the 100yr +40% 
event, none of the flooded volume should be allowed to leave the site boundary. Figure 
20 within the Strategy shows catchment 2 flow route through the rear of properties on 
plots 1 to 5 and it is likely that this flow route would be blocked by property boundaries 
or fence line. It is therefore believed that this can be resolved at the detailed design 
stage and recommend that conditions be attached to any grant of planning permission 
 

7.30 The Environment Agency and Southern Water have no objection to the development. 
 

h) Archaeology  
 

7.31 The site lies in an area of archaeological potential associated with past finds and 
discoveries in the local area. These include the site of a possible Bronze Age barrow, 
known locally as the ‘giants grave’, thought to have lain immediately to the north-west 
of the present site. A possible Roman villa is recorded around 650m to the east of the 
site, whilst separate finds of Romano-British pottery have been recorded around 200m 
to the south-west. Other finds of archaeological interest in the area include finds of 
prehistoric flint tools to the west, all of which demonstrate the broad archaeological 
potential of this part of Folkestone. Historic mapping and aerial photographs suggest 
the site has largely remained undeveloped, other than the former youth centre 
buildings and a sewer which passes through the site. As such the site presents an 
opportunity to examine an area of Folkestone that offers archaeological potential, but 
has largely been built over in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.  
 

7.32  KCC Archaeology consider that the proposed development might affect remains of 
archaeological interest and suggest that provision be made in any forthcoming 
planning consent for a programme of archaeological work. It is recommended to 
secure this through an appropriate condition.   

 

i) Affordable Housing Provision and Financial Contributions 
 

7.33 Paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that where up-to-date 
policies have set out the contributions expected from development, planning 
applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the 
applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify a need for a viability 
assessment at the application stage. 

 

7.34 Policy CSD1 of the Core Strategy requires that new housing developments of 15 or 
more units should provide 30% affordable housing on site or through a financial 

Page 56



   DCL/20/10 
contribution of broadly equivalent value off site, subject to viability. As the development 
would result in the provision of 47 dwellings this would equate to the provision of 15 
affordable housing units. 

 

7.35 The applicant seeks to provide affordable housing units, as required by policy, and the 
applicant has approached a number of housing providers. At this stage there has not 
been interest in the adoption of the units with the applicant receiving either no response 
from the housing providers that they contacted in late 2018 or stating that the quantum 
of units to be provided was unsuitable for their requirements.  Given this it is considered 
reasonable that a S106 agreement is entered into that also allows for a financial 
contribution of broadly equivalent value off site. The applicant has stated that they are 
willing to provide an off-site contribution subject to further consultation with Housing 
Strategy Manager. Policy CSD1 Allows for such off-site contributions provided it can 
be robustly justified. Given that the mix of dwellings has recently been changed since 
the original submission with a greater proportion of smaller apartment units it may be 
the case that an affordable housing provider may take an interest in the proposed 
development and that on site provision can be made.  It is considered that the S106 
legal agreement requires on site affordable housing unless it can be robustly justified 
that this is not feasible, for which an off-site payment can then be negotiated to the 
satisfaction of the Housing Strategy Manager.    

 

7.36 The proposal would result in the provision of additional housing which would lead to 
additional pressure on existing services and facilities within Folkestone. KCC have 
sought contributions towards education and social infrastructure which for the provision 
of 47 dwellings would be -  

 

- Secondary education - there is a need to mitigate the impact due to a 
deficit in provision going forward towards expansion of existing 
Secondary facilities within the Town at a cost of £4115 per  applicable 
House (x17) and £1029 per applicable flat (x30) = £100,825.00  

- Community Learning @ £21.08 per dwelling (47) = £990.76 towards 

Folkestone Skills Plus Centre equipment for the additional learners from 
this development- including laptops & IT  

- Libraries @ £48.02 per dwelling towards additional bookstock at 
Folkestone Library to accommodate the additional borrowers from this 
site due to the shortfall in bookstock locally of just 1085 items per 1000 
population in Folkestone & Hythe District which is below the County 
average of 1134 and below both the England and total UK figures of 1399 
and 1492 respectively = £2,256.94.  

- Social Care @ £60.37 per dwelling = £2,837.39 towards Age UK 
Folkestone centre refurbishment to accommodate the additional clients 
generated from this development. 

 

This would equate to a total sum of £106,910.09 which can be secured via a S106 
legal agreement. It is considered that these contributions would meet the criteria of 
the NPPF for being reasonably necessary to make the application viable. 

 

 

j) Other matters 

7.37 Policy CSD5 of the Core Strategy requires that all developments should incorporate 
water efficiency measures. New dwellings should include specific design features and 

Page 57



   DCL/20/10 
demonstrate a maximum level of usage to meet the higher water efficiency standard 
of the Building Regulations to achieve a maximum use of 110 litres per person per day. 
This can be secured by planning condition 
 

7.38 Emerging policy E8 of the PPLP requires all major development within the district to 
enable Fibre to the Premises (FTTP). This can be secured by planning condition. 

 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment 

 
7.39 In accordance with the EIA Regulations 2017, this development has been considered 

in light of Schedules 1& 2 of the Regulations and it is not considered to fall within either 
category and as such does not require screening for likely significant environmental 
effects. 
 

Local Finance Considerations  
 

7.40 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) provides that 
a local planning authority must have regard to a local finance consideration as far as it 
is material. Section 70(4) of the Act defines a local finance consideration as a grant or 
other financial assistance that has been, that will, or that could be provided to a relevant 
authority by a Minister of the Crown (such as New Homes Bonus payments), or sums 
that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. There is no CIL requirement for this development as it 
is within Folkestone Zone A. 

 
Human Rights 

 
7.41 In reaching a decision on a planning application the European Convention on Human 

Rights must be considered. The Convention Rights that are relevant are Article 8 and 
Article 1 of the first protocol. The proposed course of action is in accordance with 
domestic law. As the rights in these two articles are qualified, the Council needs to 
balance the rights of the individual against the interests of society and must be satisfied 
that any interference with an individual’s rights is no more than necessary. Having 
regard to the previous paragraphs of this report, it is not considered that there is any 
infringement of the relevant Convention rights. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 

 
7.42 In determining this application, regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty 

(PSED) as set down in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, in particular with regard 
to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and  

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. It is considered that the 
application proposals would not undermine objectives of the Duty. 

 
It is considered that the application proposals would not conflict with objectives of the 
Duty. 

Page 58



   DCL/20/10 
 

 
 

Working with the applicant  
 

7.43  In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the NPPF, Folkestone and Hythe District Council 
(F&HDC) takes a positive and creative approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. F&HDC works with applicants/agents in a positive and creative manner. 

8. CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 The development would provide a total of 47 dwellings on a sustainable site that is 
presently underutilised and provide a good standard of living accommodation and 
amenity space making a positive contribution to the character of this part of Folkestone. 
 

8.2 It is considered that the proposal accords with the existing and emerging policies of 
the Development Plan and is consistent with the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 
 

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

9.1 The consultation responses set out at Section 5.0 are background documents for the 
purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

That delegation be given to the Chief Planning Officer to grant planning 
permission subject to considering the reconsultation responses received 
raising no substation new issues, subject to the conditions set out at the end 
of the report, the applicant entering into a S106 legal agreement securing 15 
affordable housing units and the provision of £106,910.09 towards community 
infrastructure and to finalise the wording of the conditions and the legal 
agreement including adding any other conditions that he considers necessary. 

 
Conditions: 
 

1. The development must be begun within three years of the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended).  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers. 20_21_14A, 
20_21_15A, 20_21_16A, 20_21_11A, 20_21_12A, 20_21_13A, 20_21_21A, 
20_21_23A, 20_21_17A, 20, 20_21_18A, 20_21_20A, 20_21_27A, 20_21_28A, 
20_21_26A, 20_21_24A, 20_21_25A, 20_21_29A, 20_21_09A, 20_21_10A 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in order to ensure the satisfactory 
implementation of the development in accordance with the aims of saved policy 
SD1 of the Shepway District Local Plan Review. 
 

3. No construction work above the slab level of any building on site shall take place 
until samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 

Page 59



   DCL/20/10 
surfaces of the buildings hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development 
and in the interests of visual amenity. 

 
4. Prior to the first occupation of any of the permitted dwellings, the visibility splays 

shown on the submitted plan shall be provided and thereafter maintained with no 
obstructions over 1.05 metres above carriageway level within the splays. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety 
 

5. The vehicle parking and vehicle turning facilities shown on the approved plans 
shall be kept provided and available for parking purposes in connection with the 
approved development prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby 
permitted and shall be retained as such at all times thereafter.  
 

 
Reason: To ensure the permanent retention of the facilities for parking purposes 
within the curtilage of the site in order to avoid obstruction of the highway, 
safeguard the amenities of adjacent properties and encourage alternative modes 
of sustainable transport. 

 
6. Secure covered cycle storage provision shall be provided prior to the occupation 

of any of the apartments hereby permitted, in accordance with details to be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter retained 
as such. 
 
Reason: To encourage alternative modes of sustainable transport. 

 
 

7. Details of electric vehicle (EV) charging points shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing and installed prior to first occupations of the dwellings hereby permitted 
and shall thereafter be retained in good working order. 

 
Reason: To improve the sustainability of the site. 

 
8. A minimum of 20% of the market dwellings shall be constructed in accordance 

with the accessibility and adaptable Building Regulations M4(2) Adaptable Homes 
standards, unless demonstrated to be unfeasible in design or viability terms.  

 
Reason: To encourage high quality and inclusive design. 
 

9. Prior to occupation each dwelling shall be provided with a Fibre to the Premises 
connection of the highest available specification. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure the future provision of superfast fibre optic broadband 
for occupants. 
 

10. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until written documentary 
evidence has been submitted to, and approved by, the local planning authority, 
proving that the development has achieved a maximum water use of 110 litres 

Page 60



   DCL/20/10 
per person per day as defined in paragraph 36(2)(b) of the Building Regulations 
2010 (as amended). Such evidence shall be in the form of a post-construction 
stage water efficiency calculator. 
 
Reason: In accordance with the requirements of policies CSD5 and SS3 of the 
Shepway Core Strategy Local Plan 2013 which identify Shepway as a water 
scarcity area and require all new dwellings to incorporate water efficiency 
measures. 
 
Water efficiency calculations should be carried out using 'the water efficiency 
calculator for new dwellings' https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-
water-efficiency-calculator-for-new-dwellings. 
 

11. Within six months of work commencing details of how the development will 
encourage biodiversity will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and shall be carried out in accordance with details   
 
Reason: To encourage biodiversity in accordance with paragraph 170 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

12. No construction work above the slab level of any building on site shall take place 
until full details of both hard and soft landscape works, including boundary 
treatment play and recreational equipment, have been submitted to the local 
planning authority including an implementation programme and maintenance 
schedule. No building shall be occupied until an approved landscaping scheme 
has been carried out in accordance with the approved details unless an alternative 
timescale has been agreed with the local planning authority. The soft landscape 
works shall be maintained in accordance with the agreed maintenance schedule. 
 
Reason: In order to protect and enhance the appearance of the area 
 

13. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors 
in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written specification and timetable which has been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined 
and recorded. 
 

14. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable water drainage system 
has been submitted to (ad approved in writing by) the local planning authority. The 
detailed drainage scheme shall be based upon the Foul and Surface Water 
Management Strategy by RMB Consultants (June 2018) and shall demonstrate 
that the surface water generated by the development (for all rainfall durations and 
intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) 
can be accommodated and disposed of without increase to flood risk on or offsite. 
Priority shall be given to the use of infiltration techniques, however for those parts 
of the site where infiltration is not reasonably practicable, surface water disposal 
via sewer shall not exceed greenfield run-off rates.  
 
The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to published 
guidance). That silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately 
managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters, Appropriate 

Page 61

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-water-efficiency-calculator-for-new-dwellings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-water-efficiency-calculator-for-new-dwellings


   DCL/20/10 
operational, maintenance and access requirements for each drainage feature or 
SuDS component are adequately considered, including any proposed 
arrangements for future adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker.  
 
The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for 
the disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not 
exacerbate the risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying 
calculations are required prior to the commencement of the development as they 
form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the approval of which cannot be 
disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the development. 
 

15. No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the 
development hereby permitted shall be occupied or brought into use until a 
Verification Report, pertaining to the surface water drainage system and prepared 
by a suitably competent person, has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Report shall demonstrate the suitable modelled operation 
of the drainage system where the system constructed is different to that approved. 
The Report shall contain information and evidence (including photographs) of 
details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; landscape plans; full 
as built drawings; information pertinent to the installation of those items identified 
on the critical drainage assets drawing; and, the submission of an operation and 
maintenance manual for the sustainable drainage system incorporated. 
 
Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development t the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as 
constructed is compliant with and subsequently maintained pursuant to the 
requirements of paragraph 155 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
   

16. 1. An investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken by competent 
persons and a written report of the findings shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of the 
development.  It shall include an assessment of the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site, including gasworks type chemicals, whether or not it 
originates on the site. The report of the findings shall include:  
- A survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination  
- An assessment of the potential risks to  
- Human health 
-  An appraisal of remedial options and identification of the preferred  option(s).  
All work pursuant to this Condition shall be conducted in accordance with the 
DEFRA and Environment Agency document Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination (Contamination Report 11).  
 
2. If investigation and risk assessment shows that remediation is necessary, a 
detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and 
other property and the natural and historical environment shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement 
of the development. The scheme shall include details of all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable 

Page 62



   DCL/20/10 
of works, site management procedures and a verification plan. The scheme shall 
ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after 
remediation.  The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved terms including the timetable, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority 
shall be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation 
scheme works. 

 
3. Prior to commencement of development, a verification report demonstrating 
completion of the works set out in the approved remediation scheme and the 
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to 
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include 
details of longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages and maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the verification plan, and for 
the reporting of this to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
4. In the event that, at any time while the development is being carried out, 
contamination is found that was not previously identified, it shall be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment shall be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme shall be prepared.  The results shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be prepared and 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To protect the environment and human health against contamination and 
pollution, in accordance with saved Local Plan Review policies SD1 and U10a 
and the NPPF: 2019.  
 

17. No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any 
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times: 
 
Monday to Friday 0730 – 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 – 1300 hours unless in 
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

18. No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall 
take place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor any other 
day except between the following times:- 
 
Monday to Friday 0900-1700hours unless in association with an emergency or 
with the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

19. Details of the building detailing including the brick panelling, decorative brick work, 
brick reveals, flues, vents and external metres shall be submitted to and approved 

Page 63



   DCL/20/10 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the construction of the dwellings 
hereby permitted. 

Reason: In the interests of ensuring good quality design. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
Informatives: 
 

1. This decision is also conditional upon the terms of the Planning Agreement which 

has been entered into by the developer and the Local Planning Authority under 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The Agreement runs 

with the land and not with any particular person having an interest therein. 

 

2. Your attention is drawn to the need to contact the Council's Street Naming and 

Numbering Officer on 01303 853418 in order to have the new properties formally 

addressed. 

 

3. This permission does not convey any approval for the required amendments to 

the existing vehicle crossing or any other works within the highway for which 

permission must be obtained from Kent Highway Services, Ashford Highway 

Depot, Henwood Industrial Estate, Javelin Way, Ashford, Kent  TN24 8AD 

 

  

Page 64



   DCL/20/10 
Appendix 1 – Site Location Plan 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



House

55
 57

TCB

WALTER TULL WAY

39

49

24

SHEPWAY CLOSE

1 to
 20

22a

107

9

PETO CLOSE

113

83

89

35

1

25

1

5

DAWSON ROAD

64

48

53

34 32

51

2
38

21 to 28

4

36

WA
LT

ON
 R

OA
D

1

17.2m

29

34

2

69

Shelter

46

10

Centre (Club)

105

23

30

19

99

97

EASTFIE
LD

S

18

6

12
1

36

50

11

LB

Sancler

43

BL
AC

K 
BU

LL
 R

OA
D

Cubitt H
ouse

54

26

ESS

8

24

20

BRAMBLEDOWN

91

29

BRADSTONE AVENUE

7

6

16

23

1

27

59

20

2

14

60

2

to 56

30

2

37

15

26

1

12

The Shepway Close

3

7
1

2

42

30

13

75

El Sub Sta

25

11

26

14

22

14

12

15

13

SUSSEX ROAD

35

54

622700.00

622700.00

622800.00

622800.00

622900.00

622900.00

13
66

00
.00

13
66

00
.00

13
67

00
.00

13
67

00
.00

13
68

00
.00

13
68

00
.00

´

0 20 40 60 8010
Meters

Contains Ordnance Survey data 
© Crown copyright and database right 2020
Folkestone & Hythe District Council 100019677 
 

Y18/1529/FH
Former Folkestone Youth Centre

Shepway Close
Folkestone

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

LIST OF DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES  
 
 

SHEPWAY CORE STRATEGY LOCAL PLAN (2013) &  
SHEPWAY DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN REVIEW (2006) POLICIES 

 

 

Core Strategy (2013) policies 
 
Chapter 2 – Strategic Issues 
 
DSD                         -        Delivering Sustainable Development 
 
Chapter 4 – The Spatial Strategy for Shepway 
 
SS1   -        District Spatial Strategy 
SS2                          -        Housing and the Economy Growth Strategy 
SS3                          -        Place Shaping and Sustainable Settlements Strategy 
SS4                          -        Priority Centres of Activity Strategy 
SS5                          -        District Infrastructure Planning 
SS6                          -        Spatial Strategy for Folkestone Seafront 
SS7                          -        Spatial Strategy for Shorncliffe Garrison, Folkestone 
 
Chapter 5 – Core Strategy Delivery 
 
CSD1                       -        Balanced Neighbourhoods for Shepway 
CSD2                       -        District Residential Needs  
CSD3                       -        Rural and Tourism Development of Shepway 
CSD4                       -      Green Infrastructure of Natural Networks, Open Spaces 

and Recreation 
CSD5                       -       Water and Coastal Environmental Management in 

Shepway 
CSD6                       -        Central Folkestone Strategy 
CSD7                       -        Hythe Strategy 
CSD8                       -        New Romney Strategy 
CSD9                       -        Sellindge Strategy 
 
 

 
Local Plan Review (2006) policies applicable  
 

Chapter 2 – Sustainable Development 
 
SD1  -  Sustainable Development 
 

Page 69



2 

Chapter 3 – Housing 
 
HO1  -  Housing land supply – Relates to allocated sites on the 

Proposals Map and a list of exceptions subject to specified 
criteria. 

HO2  - Land supply requirements 2001-2011. 
HO6  - Criteria for local housing needs in rural areas. 
HO7  - Loss of residential accommodation. 
HO8  - Criteria for sub-division of properties to flats/maisonettes. 
HO9 - Subdivision and parking. 
HO10  - Houses in multiple occupation. 
HO13  - Criteria for special needs annexes. 
HO15  -  Criteria for development of Plain Road, Folkestone. 
 
Chapter 4 – Employment 
 

E1  - Development on established employment sites. 
E2  -  Supply of land for industry, warehousing and offices. 

Allocated sites on the Proposals Map. 
E4  - Loss of land for industrial, warehousing and office 

development. 
E6a - Loss of rural employment uses. 
 
Chapter 5 – Shopping 
 
S3  - Folkestone Town Centre – Primary shopping area as 

defined on the Proposal Map. 
S4  - Folkestone Town Centre – Secondary shopping area as 

defined on the Proposal Map. 
S5  - Local Shopping Area – Hythe. 
S6  - Local Shopping Area – New Romney. 
S7  - Local Shopping Area – Cheriton. 
S8  -  Local centres – last remaining shop or public house. 
 
Chapter 6 – Tourism 
 
TM2  - Loss of visitor accommodation. 
TM4  - Static caravans and chalet sites. 
TM5 - Criteria for provision of new or upgraded caravan and 

camping sites. 
TM7  - Development of the Sands Motel site. 
TM8 - Requirements for recreation/community facilities at 

Princes Parade. 
TM9 - Battle of Britain Museum, Hawkinge 
 

Page 70



3 

Chapter 7 – Leisure and Recreation 
 
LR1  - Loss of indoor recreational facilities. 
LR3  - Formal sport and recreational facilities in the countryside. 
LR4  - Recreational facilities – Cheriton Road Sports 

Ground/Folkestone Sports Centre. 
LR5  - Recreational facilities – Folkestone Racecourse. 
LR7  - Improved sea access at Range Road and other suitable 

coastal locations. 
LR8  - Provision of new and protection of existing rights of way. 
LR9  - Open space protection and provision. 
LR10  - Provision of childrens’ play space in developments. 
LR11  - Protection of allotments and criteria for allowing their 

redevelopment. 
LR12  - Protection of school playing fields and criteria for allowing 

their redevelopment. 
 
Chapter 8 – Built Environment 
 
BE1  - Standards expected for new development in terms of 

layout, design, materials etc. 
BE2  - Provision of new public art. 
BE3  - Criteria for considering new conservation areas or 

reviewing existing conservation areas. 
BE4  -  Criteria for considering development within conservation 

areas. 
BE5  - Control of works to listed buildings. 
BE6  - Safeguarding character of groups of historic buildings. 
BE8  - Criteria for alterations and extensions to existing buildings. 
BE9  - Design considerations for shopfront alterations. 
BE12 - Areas of Special Character. 
BE13  - Protection of urban open space and criteria for allowing 

redevelopment. 
BE14  - Protection of communal gardens as defined on the 

Proposals Map. 
BE16 - Requirement for comprehensive landscaping schemes. 
BE17  - Tree Preservation Orders and criteria for allowing 

protected trees to be removed. 
BE18  - Protection of historic parks and gardens as defined on the 

Proposals Map. 
BE19  - Land instability as defined on the Proposals Map. 
 
  

Page 71



4 

Chapter 9 – Utilities 
 

U1  - Criteria to be considered for development proposals 
relating to sewage and wastewater disposal for four 
dwellings or less, or equivalent. 

U2  - Five dwellings or more or equivalent to be connected to 
mains drainage. 

U3  - Criteria for use of septic or settlement tanks. 
U4  - Protection of ground and surface water resources. 
U10  - Waste recycling and storage within development. 
U10a  - Requirements for development on contaminated land. 
U11  - Criteria for the assessment of satellite dishes and other 

domestic telecommunications development. 
U13 - Criteria for the assessment of overhead power lines or 

cables. 
U14  - Criteria for assessment of developments which encourage 

use of renewable sources of energy. 
U15  - Criteria to control outdoor light pollution. 
 
Chapter 10 – Social and Community Facilities 
 
SC4  - Safeguarding land at Hawkinge, as identified on the 

Proposal Map, for a secondary school. 
SC7  - Criteria for development of Seapoint Centre relating to a 

community facility. 
 
Chapter 11 – Transport 
 

TR2  - Provision for buses in major developments. 
TR3  - Protection of Lydd Station. 
TR4  - Safeguarding of land at Folkestone West Station and East 

Station Goods Yard in connection with high speed rail 
services. 

TR5  - Provision of facilities for cycling in new developments and 
contributions towards cycle routes. 

TR6  - Provision for pedestrians in new developments. 
TR8  - Provision of environmental improvements along the A259. 
TR9  - Criteria for the provision of roadside service facilities. 
TR10  - Restriction on further motorway service areas adjacent to 

the M20. 
TR11  - Accesses onto highway network. 
TR12  - Vehicle parking standards. 
TR13   -  Travel plans. 
TR14   - Folkestone Town Centre Parking Strategy. 
TR15 - Criteria for expansion of Lydd Airport. 
 

Page 72



5 

Chapter 12 – Countryside 
 
CO1  - Countryside to be protected for its own sake. 
CO4  - Special Landscape Areas and their protection. 
CO5  - Protection of Local Landscape Areas. 
CO6  - Protection of the Heritage Coast and the undeveloped 

coastline. 
CO11  - Protection of protected species and their habitat. 
CO13  - Protection of the freshwater environment. 
CO14  - Long term protection of physiography, flora and fauna of 

Dungeness. 
CO16  - Criteria for farm diversification. 
CO18  - Criteria for new agricultural buildings. 
CO19  - Criteria for the re-use and adaptation of rural buildings. 
CO20  - Criteria for replacement dwellings in the countryside. 
CO21  - Criteria for extensions and alterations to dwellings in the 

countryside. 
CO22  - Criteria for horse related activities. 
CO23  - Criteria for farm shops. 
CO24  - Strategic landscaping around key development sites. 
CO25  - Protection of village greens and common lands. 
 
Chapter 13 - Folkestone Town Centre 
 
FTC3 - Criteria for the development of the Ingles Manor/Jointon 

Road site, as shown on the Proposals Map. 
FTC9 - Criteria for the development of land adjoining Hotel Burstin 

as shown on the Proposals Map. 
FTC11 - Criteria for the redevelopment of the Stade (East) site, as 

shown on the Proposals Map. 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



FOLKESTONE & HYTHE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE –  28 JULY 2020 

 
Declarations of Lobbying 

 
 
 
Members of the Committee are asked to indicate if they have been lobbied, 
and if so, how they have been (i.e. letter, telephone call, etc.) in respect of the 
planning applications below:  
 
Application No:       Type of Lobbying 
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
  .........................  
 
 
SIGNED:  ...............................................  
 
 
 
Councillor Name (in CAPS) ............................................................................ 
 
 
When completed, please return this form to the Committee 
Administrator prior to the meeting. 
 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

28th JULY 2020 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION TO SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 
 

 

1. 20/0137/FH        INGE COTTAGE, 52 COOLINGE LANE, FOLKESTONE, CT20 3QF 

(Page 11) 

 

Barn hip extension increasing height of existing roof to provide living accommodation  

at first floor level along with the replacement of existing rear extension. 

 

Cllr Peter Gane, ward member, to speak on application 

Giles Fitch, applicants agent, to speak on application 

 

 

2.  Y19/0967/FH      FLAT 4, 10 TRINITY CRESCENT, FOLKESTONE, KENT, CT20 2ET 

   (Page 29) 

 

Variation of condition 2 of application 83/1121/SH to allow permanent occupation of  

a ground floor flat for the manager following the amalgamation of two existing  

ground floor studio flats (resubmission of Y18/1418/FH). 

 

Daniel Sangiuseppe, local resident, to speak against application 

Cllr Horton, ward member, to speak on application 

Roger Joyce, applicants agent, to speak on application 

 

 

3. Y18/1529/FH     FORMER FOLKESTONE YOUTH CENTRE, SHEPWAY 

CLOSE, FOLKESTONE 

(Page 41) 

 

Erection of 17 Two Storey Dwellings and 2 Three Storey Apartment Blocks 

Comprising 30 Apartments with Associated Access, Parking, Private Amenity 

Space and Public Open Space. 

 

 Mrs Pam Dray, local resident, to speak on application 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



2 

3. Y18/1529/FH     FORMER FOLKESTONE YOUTH CENTRE, SHEPWAY CLOSE, 

FOLKESTONE 

 
 

The following consultation responses have been received: 
 
Environment Agency: 
Please refer to previous comments 
 
KCC Archaeology:  
Comments remain the same as previously submitted 
 
KCC Ecology: 
Revised plans have been submitted in respect of this application. We advise that 
these appear to reduce the potential biodiversity value of the final scheme and we 
seek assurances that the areas of open space will be managed in part for 
biodiversity.  
 
With regards to the consideration of ecological impacts, the previously submitted 
Preliminary Ecological Survey was conducted over 2 years ago and we advise that 
an updated appraisal is sought, to ensure that the determination of the application is 
based on up-to-date information about the current site conditions. If further surveys 
are now recommended, these must also be carried out prior to the determination of 
the application, to ensure that all potential ecological impacts can be taken account 
of in the planning decision, in accordance with Government guidance and planning 
policy.  
 
Our previous suggested conditions may still be appropriate, but we can confirm this 
once the updated survey report(s) have been submitted. 
 
Officer’s comments: Given the current cleared status of the site it is not considered 
that the ecological value of the site has improved since the submission of the 
Preliminary Ecological Survey and that no further surveys are required. The previous 
recommended condition(s) remain valid. 
 
KCC Lead Local Flood Authority: 
No further comments to make 
 
Representations: 
One objection received which in the main makes the following comments 

- Land was left to the youth of Folkestone as green space 

- Road network cannot take any more traffic 

 

Page 78


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Minutes of the Licensing Sub-Committee
	Minutes

	5 20/0137/FH - Inge Cottage, 52 Coolinge Lane, Folkestone, CT20 3QF
	20_0137_Site Location Plan Inge Cottage

	6 Flat 4, 10 Trinity Crescent, Folkestone, Kent, CT20 2ET
	Y19_0967_FH TRINITY

	7 Former Folkestone Youth Centre, Shepway Close, Folkestone, Shepway Close Folkestone Kent
	Y18_1529_FH Youth Centre
	Development Policies 2013 onwards
	Lobbying Form

	8 Supplementary Information

